
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

CALL TO ORDER – Mayor Keith Brady    
 
INVOCATION 
 
READING OF MINUTES 
 

I Minutes from Regular Meeting on July 16, 2019 ...................................................................... Tab A 
 

II Minutes from Special Called Meeting on July 25, 2019 ........................................................... Tab B 
 

III Minutes from Special Called Meeting on August 6, 2019 ........................................................ Tab C 
 
REPORTS OF BOARDS AND COMMISSION 

 
I 4 Appointments – Cultural Arts Commission – 3 Year Terms 
 
II 1 Appointment – Keep Newnan Beautiful – 3 Year Term 
 
III 2 Appointments – Board of Zoning Appeals – 3 Year Terms 
 
IV 2 Appointments – Downtown Development Authority – 3 Year Terms 
 
V Annual Report – Newnan Convention Center Authority  
   

REPORTS ON OPERATIONS BY CITY MANAGER 

 
REPORTS AND COMMUNICATIONS FROM MAYOR 

 
NEW BUSINESS 
 

I 2018 CAFR presented by auditors – Clifton, Lipford, Hardison and Parker, LLC .................... Tab D 
 
II Ordinance to set millage rate for 2019 Property Taxes ............................................................ Tab E 
 
III Consider agreement with LifeWorks by Morneau Shepell to provide an Employee 

Assistance Program to City employees .................................................................................... Tab F 
 
IV Newnan Coweta Historical Society Presentation regarding operations of the 

Hollis-McRitchie Museum ......................................................................................................... Tab G 
 
V Consider extending a contract award for concrete lifting services as resource for 

addressing specific sidewalk repair .......................................................................................... Tab H 
 
VI Consider partial release from Stormwater Facility Maintenance Agreement made 

between Coweta County TLC LLC, and the City of Newnan in Madison Park at 
Newnan Lakes ........................................................................................................................... Tab I 

 
VII Consider approval for Engineering Services Master Agreement for the Lower 

Fayetteville Road Operations and Safety Project...................................................................... Tab J 
 
VIII Consider approval for Scope and Fees for Task Order No. 1; Preliminary 

Engineering, Phase I, Scoping for the Lower Fayetteville Road Operations and 
Safety Project ........................................................................................................................... Tab K 

 
IX Direction regarding possibility of renaming a portion of Water Works Road ............................ Tab L 

Newnan City Council Meeting 
AUGUST 13, 2019 

Newnan City Hall 
Richard A. Bolin Council Chambers  

25 LaGrange Street 
2:30 pm 

  

 



NEWNAN CITY COUNCIL MEETING AGENDA – August 13, 2019 @ 2:30 P.M. ............................ Page 2 
 
X Housing Authority of Newnan – Request to waive Pilot Fees for 2019 ................................... Tab M 
 
XI Consider three (3) MEAG agreements to purchase excess power .......................................... Tab N 

 MEAG Power Sale of Excess Power to City of Newnan on Behalf of the City 
of Cairo 

 MEAG Power Sale of Excess Power to City of Newnan on Behalf of the City 
of Griffin 

 MEAG Power Sale of Excess Power to City of Newnan on Behalf of the City 
of East Point 

 
XII Consider Change Order #1 through #5 for the Sprayberry Road Recreational 

Dog Park Project ...................................................................................................................... Tab O 
 

UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
 
I Request for transmittal of the 2019 update to the Capital Improvements Element 

(CIE), which includes the Short-Term Work Program (STWP), to the Three 
Rivers Regional Commission (RC) and the Georgia Department of Community 
Affairs (DCA)............................................................................................................................. Tab P 

 
II Status Reports – 10 Burch Ave, 280 W Washington St, 121 Pinson St, 180 W 

Washington St, 11 Melson St, 15 Elm Cir, 18 Berry Ave and 33 Hardaway St ....................... Tab Q 
 
VISITORS, PETITIONS, COMMUNICATIONS & COMPLAINTS 

 
I Request from Newnan Chapter #483, Order of the Eastern Star to conduct the 

33rd Annual Dr. Martin Luther King, Jr. Parade in Newnan, Georgia on Saturday 
January 11, 2020 beginning at noon on the same route as in previous years ......................... Tab R 

 
II Request from Watercrest Senior Living Group assisted living community, which is 

opening soon in Newnan, to consider change in ordinance that will allow them to 
serve alcohol in their restaurant and bistro without meeting the requirement to be 
open to the public ..................................................................................................................... Tab S 

 
III Request from Frankie Harden-One Roof to consider approval to sign document 

to accompany application to DCA for Emergency Solutions Grants Program ESG ................ Tab T 
 
IV Request from Frankey Henderson – Coweta Schools to hold their Annual 

Student-Vet Connect 5K on November 9, 2019 at 7 – 10 am, the same day as 
the Veteran’s Parade ................................................................................................................ Tab U 

 
V Max Kitchens – Filming on Greenville Street 

 
EXECUTIVE SESSION – LEGAL, PERSONNEL AND REAL ESTATE 
 
ADJOURNMENT 
 

 



























CITY OF NEWNAN, GEORGIA 

SPECIAL CALLED COUNCIL MEETING JULY 25, 2019 
 

Page 1 of 5 

 

The special called meeting of the City Council of the City of Newnan, Georgia was held on 

Thursday, July 25, 2019 at 6:30 p. m. in the Richard A. Bolin Council Chambers of City Hall with 

Mayor Keith Brady presiding.            

                                                                 

CALL TO ORDER 

 

Mayor Brady called the special meeting to order and delivered the invocation. 

 

PRESENT 

 

Mayor Keith Brady: Councilman members present: Ray DuBose; Cynthia E. Jenkins; Paul Guillaume; 

Dustin Koritko and George Alexander. Council member absent; Rhodes Shell.  Also present: City 

Manager Cleatus Phillips; Planning Director, Tracy Dunnavant; Assistant City Manager, Hasco Craver; 

Planning & Zoning Administrative Assistant, Tina Fronebarger; City Attorney, Brad Sears and Police 

Chief, Douglas “Buster” Meadows.      

 

BOY SCOUT TROOP  
 

He recognized Christopher Slay from Boy Scout Troup 55 for being in attendance for his 

communication badge.   

 

CONTINUATION PUBLIC HEARING – REZONING REQUEST 6.667± ACRES  L,OCATED 

EAST BROAD STREET – KNOWN AS CALDWELL TANKS PROPERTY (TAX PARCEL #s 

N04 0010 006 AND N04 0012 001):  MELISSA GRIFFS ON BEHALF OF THE RESIDENTIAL 

GROUP (RZ2019-05) 

 

Mayor Brady explained this was a continuation of the public hearing from July 16th regarding the 

Residential Group’s request to rezone 6.667 acres located on East Broad Street, known as the Caldwell 

Tanks property, from CBD (Central Business District) to MXD (Mixed Use Development).  He 

explained that this meeting is the first of three meetings and is designed for Council to hear what the 

citizens would like to see done with this property.  Mayor Brady mentioned several topics that had been 

brought up at the last meeting including: development on the one-acre lot on the east side of the railroad 

tracks, density of the apartments, lack of architectural compatibility between the proposal and the 

historic district, lack of adherence to the comprehensive plan and LCI study, lack of parking, increased 

traffic, and the ratio of the commercial/retail space to the residential square footage.  He said there were 

other comments Council heard as well, but he could not list them all. 

 

Cleatus Phillips stated this was a critical site for the city and the decision could impact the downtown for 

several years.  He thanked the citizens for their input and involvement.  Phillips gave a presentation 

outlining Newnan at a Glance (provided 2000 stats to current day); Housing Characteristics (provided 

2000 stats to current day); Planning for the City’s Future (Comprehensive Plan 2016-2036); The 

Comprehensive Plan’s components; the Community Involvement Plan; The Comprehensive Plan’s 

Goals and Policies; The Comprehensive Plan’s Housing Goals; The Comprehensive Plan’s segments on 

Caldwell Tanks; the Livable Centers Initiative (LCI) Study; the LCI Public Engagement Process; 

Caldwell Tanks’ excerpts in the LCI Study – Concepts A, B & C; Current Zoning (Central Business 

District) for the property; and an overview of TRG’s Proposed Project.  In conclusion, Phillips stated the 

City values and wants citizen input and asked, “What change(s) would you like to see made to the 



CITY OF NEWNAN, GEORGIA 

SPECIAL CALLED COUNCIL MEETING JULY 25, 2019 
 

Page 2 of 5 

 

proposed project?”  He explained they are lifting the 15-minute speaking time to give the public an 

opportunity to be heard.  

 

Susan Green stated she is opposed to the proposal for Caldwell Tanks.  She asked if they plan to 

preserve and protect the integrity of the historic districts, or will you allow Newnan to become just 

another city of high-density apartments.  She said the community overwhelmingly opposes this and 

asked what the Council would like their legacy to be. 

 

Gary Martin discussed density being a serious issue, the developer holding the property for 10 years, and 

the sincerity of someone who tells us they want to be involved in this community for that length of time 

when their track records shows something totally different. 

 

Jack McBride voiced his concern that the City is not thinking outside the box. He mentioned Brant 

Frost’s idea for the city to buy the property.   McBride said there are other ways to do this as true mixed 

use.  He asked why the developer wants to build downtown as he doesn’t feel people will be rushing to 

rent these apartments. 

 

Brant Frost IV stated the city should buy the properties and sell them to someone we choose.  He 

mentioned the possibility of a tax allocation district, the public benefit, the need for high quality, and 

waiting for the right project to come along. 

 

Stan Topal said this project is the wrong project for this site.  He stressed that this is Newnan not Atlanta 

and urged the Council to keep Newnan alive. 

 

Jocelyn Palmer discussed the developer using tax credits.  She explained the Jobs Act and provided an 

explanation of the opportunity zone tax credits which the developer is planning to use. Palmer concluded 

that capitalism is a good thing, but not in this case. 

 

Matthew Swope stated he felt Newnan needed a “draw”.  He mentioned opportunities on the square for 

open containers, how to draw in millennials, Carrollton and LaGrange having fantastic amphitheaters, 

liking mixed use, the ability to fill 348 apartments without a draw, modifying it to a smaller mixed-use 

complex while ensuring we have businesses to go there, the Beltline, and Ponce City Market. 

 

Katie Chapman stated Newnan is rapidly growing but still has the small-town charm.  She discussed a 

decrease of homeownership in the city, the Comprehensive Plan, the proposal not being consistent with 

the goals of the City, incompatibility with the historic district downtown, the current highest zoning 

district allowing for 12 units per acre, millennials wanting homeownership, the AJC having an article 

about Fayette County having the largest flight “out of town” by millennials in the United States, 

considering an amphitheater like the one in Tuscaloosa, a parking deck, townhomes, and mixed-use or a 

park on the one-acre site.  

 

Jason Kanner discussed the project’s impact on traffic.  He asked what will happen to downtown during 

construction.  Cleatus Phillips mentioned that the applicants will be addressing that during the August 

6th meeting.   

 

Hannah Chapman discussed what she and fellow graduates talk about regarding their plans after college 

in terms of where they want to move, work, play and have a work/life balance. She stated what Newnan 



CITY OF NEWNAN, GEORGIA 

SPECIAL CALLED COUNCIL MEETING JULY 25, 2019 
 

Page 3 of 5 

 

needs is not more apartments but something to draw people here. Chapman mentioned a park, baseball 

stadium, and an amphitheater like the one in Tuscaloosa. 

 

Lynn Chapman said she felt they were at a disadvantage.  She stated she had gone through local 

building, local developers, local architects and the city process in building their home.  Chapman stated 

this project has forced her to be a part of the community.  She mentioned the apartments are not suited 

for this location, and concluded with we need a park, boutique hotel, or townhomes but not 348 

apartments. 

 

Phyllis Graham said she adores Newnan.  She suggested having a bargaining chip to make this deal 

work such as a lovely park across the railroad tracks, connectivity to the LINC, the creation of 

greenspace and maybe reducing the apartments to 295.  Graham explained she knows people who 

choose apartment living and added there is a reason people come to Newnan. She concluded by saying it 

is the “experience of Newnan” that is creating a draw. 

 

Chuck Landrum voiced concern over the effect of density on a community.  He said he sees it over and 

over again where apartments lower their rents after a few years and mentioned Camelot on Old National 

Highway.  Landrum said he understands there is a cost to decreasing density and said that maybe the 

City can help alleviate that.  He suggested making the project more commercial, creating a park on the 

other side, and paying the City back with additional parking to help support the downtown.  He 

concluded by saying he wants something there, but this is not it. 

 

Caroline Master asked if the property is rezoned, does the developer have to stick to what he has 

proposed or can he deviate from his plan.  She added that she is also concerned about the lack of 

greenspace.  Cleatus Phillips explained that the rezoning has proffered conditions that is a statement of 

what will be delivered and the Council will adopt those as conditions.  He concluded with what is 

proposed will have to be delivered. 

 

Michael Miller said the Council should deny the proposal and the community should pull together to 

court a developer with a different vision for this site.  He added the LCI references Ponce City Market 

and he mentioned other developments like Bottle Works, Newnan Lofts, and Cabbage Town as 

examples of what he would like to see.  Miller said he would like to see them keep buildings 1, 5, 3, and 

4 and incorporate those with a mixture of uses.  He added that the plans should be in accordance with 

preservation standards, reduced density, and have a viable parking solution.  Miller concluded by stating 

the historic character of Newnan is at stake here. 

 

Brant Frost V urged Council not to retreat from the 20 years of intentional effort the City made to 

preserve the downtown area.  He mentioned the work of 50 years can be undone in just a minute or a 

lifetime reputation can be undone with one bad mistake.  Frost reminded the Council that they were 

representing the constituents and concluded by stating that these people are the ones who elected you. 

 

Barbara Willey said she would prefer a community use, open space like Greenville or First Avenue 

Park, a park for children to play, a soccer field, an amphitheater, a community recreation center with a 

swimming pool, a shopping district with small boutiques, restaurants, possibly a boutique grocery store 

such as Whole Foods or Trader Joes, having shops on the bottom level with loft apartments above (one 

level only), single family homes with open space, townhomes with open space, lowering the number of 



CITY OF NEWNAN, GEORGIA 

SPECIAL CALLED COUNCIL MEETING JULY 25, 2019 
 

Page 4 of 5 

 

apartments to 30, and open parking spaces.  Willey asked Council to listen to their constituents and if 

they are not listening, then they are not representing them. 

 

John Palmer said he wants home ownership.  He added the city is trying to place a square peg in a round 

hole and asked when the Council will debate Mr. Frost’s proposal.  Mayor Brady explained they could 

not until after they made their decision on the current proposal.  Phillips explained the applicant is 

entitled to due process under this rezoning request and what we are doing here tonight is a first, but we 

have to protect the applicant’s due process.  He added the Council will vote on the proposal or the 

amended proposal and that is what they have to do by law.  John Palmer mentioned the three concepts in 

the LCI study and Phillips stated the three concepts were based on public input. 

 

Scott Frederking agreed that the Comprehensive Plan’s participation was less than ideal.  He stated this 

project does not conform to the plan and the City should have the applicant withdraw the application.  

He stated there is nothing wrong with apartments, per say, in the right place with appropriate density. 

Frederking mentioned the LCI study excluding the one-acre lot from the mixed use designation.  He 

mentioned parking, reducing density, the external façade being compatible with the surrounding area, 

and concluded with a suggestion to thank the Residential Group on their interest in our City and sending 

them on their way. 

 

Chris McBride explained she has never been to a Council meeting.  She asked if after the Council votes, 

will she be able to ask each Councilmember why they voted for this proposal.  McBride asked will we 

find out why you voted yes or no for this fiasco.  Mayor Brady stated the public should not assume that 

the Council has taken a position on this request as they are having this series of meetings to get public 

input.  Mayor Brady stated he would be happy to answer the question of why he voted the way he did 

for anyone who would ask him. 

 

Frances Kidd voiced her concerns about looking ahead and seeing when Newnan is not going to be 

desirable.  She said she grew up here and left because there was nothing to do and came back because it 

is so much better now.  Kidd doesn’t want to look back to see when they lost control of development. 

 

Katie Noles said she is not necessarily opposed to a large development as she welcomes new businesses.  

She mentioned a pattern within the downtown area that is pushing out small businesses like theirs.  

Noles stated the market in Newnan is crazy right now and its almost unaffordable for small businesses to 

stay here.  She said to keep that in mind, they are at the point of having to look at Grantville, Moreland 

or Carrollton for a new location because the market around here has gotten so insane with the pricing.  

Noles suggested something like an amphitheater or Ponce City Market would be a better use than 350 

apartments and feels very strongly that the project is not an option for the downtown area.  She said an 

amphitheater would also be a great idea. 

 

Phillips thanked everyone for their participation.  Gary Martin asked for direction for the next meeting 

so they will know what to expect.  Mayor Brady stated Cleatus Phillips will get something on the 

website.  Melissa Griffis, attorney for the applicant, came forward and thanked everyone for coming and 

added that she had been taking notes on their concerns and suggestions.  Griffis said they welcome this 

opportunity and appreciate everyone’s input. She said our plan is to look at all of this information and 

respond at the next meeting.   

 



CITY OF NEWNAN, GEORGIA 

SPECIAL CALLED COUNCIL MEETING JULY 25, 2019 
 

Page 5 of 5 

 

Hasco Craver reminded the audience to leave their completed comment cards in the basket in the hall.  

Mayor Brady stated there was a lot of good and positive suggestions that is different from the proposal 

and he encouraged everyone to attend the next meeting.  Phillips explained the format for the August 6th 

meeting.   

 

Lynn Chapman asked about time limits on public comments.  Mayor Brady said that he is not a fan of 

time limits and would say no regarding the time limits, but indicated that the same topics do not need to 

be repeated over and over. He stated Council would like to hear any new objections as well as comments 

in response to any revisions the applicant proposes.  Lynn Chapman mentioned she has not run into 

anyone who knew about the public input process during the Comprehensive Plan.  Mayor Brady said the 

City would count on her to be a part of that process in the future as they love citizen participation.  He 

said this is a unique opportunity that could have a multigenerational impact.  Mayor Brady emphasized 

that they are trying to be transparent and open.  A gentleman in the audience asked when Councilman 

Shell will be back.  Mayor Brady said Councilman Shell’s trip was planned months before the 

application had been filed.  Phillips said he expects him to be back for the next meeting.  A lady asked 

about due process.  Phillips explained what it is and the process that had to be followed. 

 

 

ADJOURNMENT 
          

Motion by Councilman Alexander, seconded by Council Koritko to adjourn the meeting at 8:17 p.m. to 

continue the public hearing. 

 

MOTION CARRIED (6 - 0) 

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

________________  ____________________ 

Della Hill, City Clerk  Keith Brady, Mayor 



CITY OF NEWNAN, GEORGIA 

SPECIAL CALLED COUNCIL MEETING                         _        AUGUST 6, 2019     

The special called meeting of the City Council of the City of Newnan, Georgia was held 

on August 6, 2019 at 6:30 pm in the Richard A. Bolin Chamber of City Hall with Mayor 

Keith Brady presiding.  

 

CALL TO ORDER 

 

Mayor Brady called the meeting to order and delivered the invocation.  

 

PRESENT 

 

Mayor Brady; Council members present:  George Alexander, Ray DuBose, Paul 

Guillaume, Dustin Koritko and Rhodes Shell. Council member absent:  Cynthia Jenkins. 

Also in attendance:  City Manager, Cleatus Phillips; Assistant City Manager, Hasco 

Craver; Planning Director Tracy Dunnavant and City Attorney, Brad Sears 

 

UNFINISHED BUSINESS – CONTINUATION OF PUBLIC HEARING FROM 

JULY 16, 2019  - REQUEST FROM THE RESIDENTIAL GROUP TO REZONE 

6.667± ACRES LOCATED ON EAST BROAD STREET, KNOWN AS 

CALDWELL TANKS PROPERTY FROM CBD (CENTRAL BUSINESS 

DISTRICT) TO MXD (MIXED USE DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT) 

 

Hasco Craver stated that 45 comment cards had been received at the last session.  He 

provided documentation to the City Council which listed the comments and advised the 

public that the information would be available on the City’s website.  Craver covered the 

major themes from both the comment cards and the verbal comments received at the 

meeting.  He also created a wordle which emphasized the most used words from the 

comments.  Craver stated that some of the comment cards included questions, which he 

felt were either addressed in staff’s report or could be answered by the developer. 

 

Kurt Alexander, The Residential Group, stated he was there to discuss amendments to his 

proposal.  Mayor Brady asked who owned the subject properties.  Alexander stated it was 

Broad Street Forum, Inc. out of Kentucky.  Mayor Brady asked who were the real estate 

agents.  Alexander stated Hassan Tayara and Mike Warren.   Mayor Brady asked if either 

he or anyone on the City Council were involved in this transaction.  Alexander said no.    

 

Alexander discussed the changes he was proposing to his project.  He stated the total 

acreage would be reduced from 6.7 acres to 5.6, which meant that the 1-acre tract across 

the railroad tracks was being dropped from the project.  Alexander said the total number 

of apartments would also be decreased from 348 to 285.  He mentioned the height of the 

buildings on East Broad Street would be reduced from 4 stories to 3 and would now have 

flat roofs to maintain the character of the downtown area.  Alexander discussed revisions 

to the parking counts.  He stated that the 98 commercial and guest parking spaces would 

stay the same, but the total number of spaces would be reduced to 503.  Alexander said 

there would be 165 one-bedroom units and 120 two-bedroom units.  He mentioned with 

the loss of the 1-acre tract, there would not be a need for a buffer variance.  Alexander 

stated the amenities, adaptive re-use of the existing buildings, and the landscaping would 



CITY OF NEWNAN, GEORGIA 

SPECIAL CALLED COUNCIL MEETING                         _        AUGUST 6, 2019     

not be changed.  He discussed where the LINC easement could be located on the 5.6 

acres and how it could run from East Broad Street all the way to Salbide.   

 

Chris Kacena, Studio Architects, stated his team studies the area in which their project is 

to be located when determining the appropriate architectural design.  He showed pictures 

from the area of influence and added that Newnan has a lot of parapets.  Kacena stated 

that the characteristics of downtown Newnan included 2 and 3 story facades, 

canopies/awnings, storefronts and some industrial simplicity.  He showed renderings of 

the proposed buildings on East Broad Street and Salbide to give an idea of how these new 

structures would stand in relation to the existing buildings in terms of height.  Alexander 

added that they would continue to refine the proposed architecture to make sure they 

build something that works with the fabric of Newnan.  Mayor Brady asked if the 

storefronts along East Broad Street would be used as commercial space.  Alexander 

stated it would actually be used for the development’s amenity area.   

 

John Young stated the Planning Commission voted to recommend denial of the rezoning 

request two months ago.  He asked what the role of the Commission was during this 

process.  Sears explained that the Commission’s role is to serve as a reviewing and 

recommending board.  He added that the Planning Commission is actually not required 

under state law and mentioned that Coweta County does not have such a board.  Young 

asked if the Planning Department staff had worked with the Commission prior to 

developing their recommendation.  Dunnavant explained that staff provides a technical 

report to the Commission that addresses questions dictated by the Zoning Procedures 

Law.  She added the Commission uses the report and holds a public hearing in order to 

obtain the information they need to make a recommendation.  Young stated that the 

railroad is very loud and added that a silent crossing would be a “game changer”.   

 

Alejandro Glomba stated the project is good for Newnan as it will be a source of revenue.  

He mentioned that when the white supremacy group came to town, the citizens were all 

about inclusivity; however, when newcomers try to move here, the town waives the flag 

of exclusivity. 

 

Scott Frederking asked what the 1-acre lot would be used for if the developer was 

removing it from the project. Alexander said he wouldn’t be purchasing the tract so that 

would be up to the owner.  Frederking mentioned that only 15 apartments would be 

eliminated from the large tract and his objections to the density still stands.   

 

Sarah Chapman stated that the overall density per acre actually increases with the 

removal of the 1-acre lot at 51 units per acre.  She asked Alexander if there were plans to 

widen Thompson Street.  Alexander stated that the widening of Thompson Street was not 

a part of his proposal.   

 

Jennifer Goodson asked about the Livable Centers Initiative and the Andrews Street 

extension project.  She mentioned that the concept from the study that she liked best was 

the one that showed a grocery store and a mixture of housing types.  Phillips gave 

background on the LCI study and clarified that it was a planning guide that the City 



CITY OF NEWNAN, GEORGIA 

SPECIAL CALLED COUNCIL MEETING                         _        AUGUST 6, 2019     

Council adopted.  He added that the Andrews Street project had been included on the 

TSPLOST list which would be on the ballot in November.  Phillips discussed how the 

TSPLOST projects were selected.  He added that if TSPLOST passes, then the City will 

move forward with the project; however, if it failed, the City would have to look at other 

sources of funding. 

 

Jack McBride expressed concern over the project setting a precedent in terms of density.   

 

Raymond Emporess asked if Alexander planned to redirect traffic down Salbide.  

Alexander explained the findings of the traffic study.  Mayor Brady asked if the traffic 

study was online.  Alexander said yes. 

 

Clarence Bohannon stated that he was there to represent his community.  He expressed 

concerns about gentrification and asked why the City had not reached out to his 

neighborhood.  Bohannon said the developer needed to put something together that 

would be a benefit to all. 

 

Brant Frost cautioned that the City will not get a second chance to get this right.  He 

added that under no scenario would apartments work on the site.  Frost suggested the City 

buy the property, clean it up, and sell it to a single-family homebuilder.  He stated that a 

Tax Allocation District (TAD) could be created to recapture any funds that were lost.  

 

Cole Skinner stated that the property owner does not have a voice in this process and he 

believes property rights should matter.  He added if the City keeps pushing everything 

towards Bullsboro, then you might as well close downtown.   

 

Phyllis Graham stated that its Newnan’s culture that makes it the way it is.  She read from 

a letter to the editor that she sent to the Newnan Times Herald back in 2009.  In the letter, 

Graham referenced the City being “the City of Homes” and not “the City of Houses”.  

She stressed that a community is about its people; not apartments, homes, etc. 

 

Keith Chapman clarified that this project is not Ponce City Market as was previously 

referenced. 

 

Margaret Russell stated the issue is whether or not the property should be rezoned to 

mixed use development.  She added that rezoning it would open up the possibility of 

other properties seeking rezoning as well, but cautioned that denying it could result in 

losing the downtown.  She said she believes a mixed-use zoning is a fine option, but does 

not feel the developer made enough concessions.   

 

John Palmer asked if the Council could simply rezone the property to MXD without 

considering the applicant’s proposal.  Mayor Brady stated that it could be done, but that 

option was not on the table.   

 

Patty Gironda discussed her inability to park on the street and have special events at her 

bed and breakfast.  She asked why she had more restrictions than this developer.   



CITY OF NEWNAN, GEORGIA 

SPECIAL CALLED COUNCIL MEETING                         _        AUGUST 6, 2019     

Jocelyn Palmer stated the project may have changes, but it is still an apartment 

development.  She discussed the decrease in unit percentages and impact on the Police 

Department.  Palmer questioned the developer’s plan for dealing with the brownfield 

remediation issue. 

 

Gary Martin stated the density for this project is too high.  He described how the City of 

Decatur had changed and expressed his concerns that Newnan was going to follow suit. 

 

Jeanette Hopper discussed the impact of the project on the school system.   

 

Mayor Brady asked Alexander if what he presented tonight was his final project.  

Alexander said yes.   

 

Councilman Alexander asked about the route of the LINC project.  Craver described the 

LINC’s proposed location.  Councilman Alexander asked about the amount of 

commercial space within the project.  Kurt Alexander stated 25,600 square feet which 

does not include the basement of the warehouse building.  Mayor Brady asked about the 

total gross leasable space.  Alexander said 25,600.   

 

Councilman Guillaume asked about the remediation process.  Alexander gave details and 

explained how he must take the property to a higher environmental standard since he 

would be using it for residential purposes.  He described what actions had already been 

taken and what was still needed.  Councilman Guillaume asked about the cost of 

remediation.  Alexander said roughly $2 million.  Mayor Brady gave the ownership 

history for the site. 

 

Mayor Brady thanked everyone for attending the meeting and stressed the importance of 

the community being involved in these types of processes.  He stated the City has heard 

both the applicant’s initial proposal as well as the community’s feedback on the original 

and modified proposals.   He asked if the Council felt an August 15th meeting was 

needed.  Councilman DuBose asked Alexander if he felt he needed more time.  

Alexander stated that he felt he had been given enough time to make his case.   

 

Shell made motion to cancel the August 15th special called meeting and continue the 

public hearing until the August 27th regular meeting at which time the Council will vote 

on the rezoning.  Seconded by Councilman Guillaume.   

 

MOTION CARRIED. (6 - 0) 

ADJOURNMENT  

 

Motion by Councilman Alexander, seconded by Councilman DuBose, to adjourn the 

meeting at 8:00 p.m.    

MOTION CARRIED. (6 - 0) 

 

______________________________  ______________________________ 

Della Hill, City Clerk     Keith Brady, Mayor 



Date: 

Agenda Item:  

Prepared By:  

Presented By:  

City of Newnan, Georgia 
Mayor and Council 

August 13, 2019

2018 CAFR Presentation by Auditors 

Katrina Cline, Finance Director Ken 

Neil  and/or Judy Caudill

Purpose:  

Background: 

Funding: 

To present the completed 2018 Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR) 
and a brief overview of the year to Council. 

The City contracted with Clifton, Lipford, Hardison and Parker, LLC of Warner 
Robbins, Georgia, to perform an audit of the City’s financial transactions and data 
for calendar year 2018. The audit was completed on June 19, 2019. The City 
received a clean report.

N/A  

Recommendation: N/A 

Options: N/A 

Attachments: None.  The 2018 CAFR reports were previously distributed to Council by staff.

Previous Discussion with Council:   N/A 



City of Newnan, Georgia 
Mayor and Council 

 
 
 

 
Date:     August 13, 2019   
  
Agenda Item:   Ordinance to set millage rate for 2019 Property Taxes 
 
Prepared By:   Katrina Cline, Finance Director 
 
Presented By:   Cleatus Phillips, City Manager 
 

 
 
Purpose:   To adopt an ordinance to set the millage rate for real and personal property 

taxes for the City’s 2019 assessment cycle.     
 
 
Background: The 2019 tax digest was received from the Coweta County Tax 

Commissioner on July 17, 2019.  The current 2019 tax digest and 5-year 
history of the levy has been advertised, as required. 

 
 
  
Funding:  N/A.    
 
 
 
Recommendation:   Staff recommends that Council approve the ordinance as submitted, 

resulting in a millage rate for 2019 of 3.989 mills, which is the rollback rate 
calculated by the Coweta County Tax Commissioner for 2019. 

 
 
 
Options:           1.  Approve the ordinance as submitted. 
 2.  Other action as directed by Council. 
 
 
 
 
Attachments: Current 2019 Tax Digest and 5-Year History of Levy (as advertised). 
  
 
  
 
Previous Discussion with Council:   N/A. 
 
 
 
 
 



City 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019*

Real and Personal $1,081,798,682 $1,175,236,951 $1,204,536,961 $1,322,596,403 $1,419,667,563 $1,475,094,477

Motor Vehicles 56,791,200 39,862,510 28,360,230 20,606,520 15,045,190 11,991,020

Mobile Homes 0 0 0 0 0 0

Timber - 100% 0 0 0 0 0 0

Heavy Duty Equipment 0 0 0 0 0 0

Gross Digest $1,138,589,882 $1,215,099,461 $1,232,897,191 $1,343,202,923 $1,434,712,753 $1,487,085,497

Less M & O Exemptions 0 0 0 0 0 0

Net M & O Digest $1,138,589,882 $1,215,099,461 $1,232,897,191 $1,343,202,923 $1,434,712,753 $1,487,085,497

State of Georgia Forest Land

  Assistance Grant Value $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

Adjusted Net M & O Digest $1,138,589,882 $1,215,099,461 $1,232,897,191 $1,343,202,923 $1,434,712,753 $1,487,085,497

Gross M & O Millage 8.805 8.988 9.241 8.709 8.707 8.905

Less Rollback 4.655 4.938 5.191 4.839 4.707 4.916

Net M & O Millage 4.150 4.050 4.050 3.870 4.000 3.989

Net Taxes Levied $4,725,148 $4,921,153 $4,993,234 $5,198,195 $5,738,851 $5,931,984

Net Tax $ Increase/(Decrease) $328,854 $196,005 $72,081 $204,962 $540,656 $193,133

Net Tax % Increase/(Decrease) 7.48% 4.15% 1.46% 4.10% 10.40% 3.37%

* Proposed Millage Rate.  Actual Millage Rate will be determined by Council at the August 13, 2019 meeting.

City of Newnan
CURRENT 2019 TAX DIGEST AND 5-YEAR HISTORY OF LEVY

The Newnan City Governing Authority does hereby announce that the 2019 millage rate will be set at a meeting to be held at Newnan City Hall on August 

13, 2019 at 2:30 PM, and pursuant to the requirements of O.C.G.A. 48-5-32, does hereby publish the following presentment of the current year's tax digest 

and levy, along with the history of the tax digest and levy for the past five years. 

PUBLIC NOTICE



ORDINANCE IMPOSING TAXES FOR 
CORPORATE PURPOSES FOR THE YEAR 2019 

 
 

BE IT ORDAINED, by the City Council of the City of Newnan, Georgia:  
 
SECTION I. That for the purpose of paying its expenses of operation and maintenance 
from the 1st day of January, 2019 to the 31st day of December, 2019, the City of Newnan, 
Georgia, a body politic, does hereby impose and levy the following taxes:  
 
On each one thousand ($1,000.00) dollars of the assessed value of all real estate and all 
personal property in the City of Newnan, Georgia and in like proportion on less than one 
thousand ($1,000.00) dollars in assessed value a tax, in the following amount:  
 
For the general operations of the City of Newnan, the tax rate of eight and nine hundred 
five (8.905) mills is hereby levied upon the real and personal property located within the 
corporate limits of the City of Newnan. This rate will produce approximately $13,242,608 in 
ad valorem taxes. In compliance with the original laws regulating local option sales tax, the 
sum of $7,310,624 is hereby deducted from the total levy, leaving a balance to be 
collected of approximately $5,931,984, or a reduction in the ad valorem tax levy of four 
and nine hundred sixteen (4.916) mills. The effective rate of taxation is three and nine 
hundred eighty nine (3.989) mills, which is for the general operations of the City of 
Newnan.  
 
SECTION II. That all taxes imposed or levied by this ordinance shall be due and payable 
at the office of the Coweta County Tax Commissioner approximately forty-five days after 
billing.    
 
If any tax is not paid on or before the last business day of the month following the billing, 
interest in the amount of 0.542% per month shall be added and collected by the Tax 
Commissioner. Additionally, a penalty of 5% shall be added after 120 days, with an 
additional 5% assessed after each successive 120 days, up to a maximum of 20% of the 
principle amount due. If the taxes are not paid by the 31st day of March 2020, the Tax 
Commissioner may issue a tax execution for the tax, penalty, interest, and execution fee of 
twelve dollars ($12.00) against the property of the defaulting taxpayer, directed to the 
police chief or any other officer or person designated by the City Council for that purpose, 
who shall proceed to collect the same according to law. 
 
SECTION III. Any taxpayer whose property is under appeal with the Coweta County Tax 
Assessor may make a partial payment reflecting the tax on the undisputed portion of the 
appraisal. Taxpayers with pending appeals who make full payment will receive a refund for 
any reduction in the property valuation resulting from the appeals process. Taxpayers who 
make partial payments will be liable for penalties on any additional tax due following 
resolution of the appeals process.  
 
SECTION IV. Any ordinance or parts of ordinances in conflict with or inconsistent with this 
ordinance are hereby repealed. 
 
 



 
DONE, RATIFIED AND PASSED in regular session, on this the ______ day of 
_______________________, 2019. 
 
 
 
ATTEST:     ___________________________________ 
      L. Keith Brady, Mayor 
____________________________ 
Della Hill, City Clerk     
      ___________________________________ 
      Cynthia E. Jenkins, Mayor Pro-Tem 
REVIEWED AS TO FORM: 
 
____________________________ ___________________________________ 
C. Bradford Sears, Jr., City Attorney George M. Alexander, Councilmember 
 
 
____________________________ ___________________________________ 
Cleatus Phillips, City Manager  Raymond F. DuBose, Councilmember 
 
 
      ___________________________________ 
      Rhodes H. Shell, Councilmember 
 
 
      ___________________________________ 
      Dustin Koritko, Councilmember 
 
 
      _________________________________ 

Paul Guillaume, Councilmember 
 
 
 



City of Newnan, Georgia - Mayor and Council 
 
Date: August 13, 2019 
 
Agenda Item:  Lifeworks Employee Assistance program (EAP) 
 
Prepared by:  Meg Blubaugh  
  
Presented by: Meg Blubaugh    

 
 

Purpose:   To enter into an agreement with LifeWorks by Morneau Shepell to provide 
an Employee Assistance Program to City employees.  

 
 
Background: The City’s current contract with Espyr expires August 31, 2019 and the 

City does not wish to enter into a new contract with Espyr but instead, 
obtain EAP services through LifeWorks. The proposed service agreement 
is for three years. Service agreement has been reviewed by City Attorney. 

 
    
Options: A. Enter into agreement LifeWorks by Morneau Shepell to provide EAP 

services 
B. Other actions as directed by Council 

 
Funding: Funding is included in the 2019 budget  

 
 
Recommendation: Enter into service agreement LifeWorks by Morneau Shepell to provide 

EAP services 
 
 
Attachments:  LifeWorks Service Agreement 
    
 

 

 
Previous Discussion with Council:  None   
 























 

2019 Operations Plan 

for the McRitchie-Hollis Museum and 

Newnan-Coweta Historical Society 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Presented by Emily Kimbell, Director 

August 2019 

 



 

 2 

Background/Introductory Remarks 

The McRitchie-Hollis Museum (MHM) is a museum established and operated by the 

Newnan-Coweta Historical Society (NCHS). The museum is currently housed in the Peniston 

House, a facility owned by the City of Newnan and leased to the NCHS. The NCHS received the 

funding to renovate the Peniston House and is funded to operate the museum from the Edgar 

Hollis estate.  

 The NCHS renovated and designed the McRitchie-Hollis Museum originally as a house 

furnishings museum in keeping with Mr. Hollis’s instructions in his will. It became apparent that 

the Hollis furnishings were not museum-worthy examples of home furnishings and even though 

it was named the McRitchie Hollis Museum, the community (and some members of the NCHS 

board) were more interested in having the Peniston House as a community social facility instead 

of a museum. Consequently, the McRitchie-Hollis Museum over the last few years has operated 

as a hybrid facility—not a real museum and not a real social facility with neither function 

accomplishing the benefactor’s desire to have a “high quality, fully-staffed” museum to honor 

his parents, nor having any kind of identity that establishes itself as a “social facility”.   

 On April 17, 2019, the NCHS received a letter from Cleatus Philips, City of Newnan City 

Planner addressing concerns of poor performance of the McRitchie-Hollis Museum and potential 

trust agreement violations. On Wednesday, May 2, 2019, Phillips met with Robert Hancock, 

administrator of the Hollis estate; Emily Kimbell, recently hired director of the Newnan-Coweta 

Historical Society; and historical society board members—John Cunningham, Walter Jones, 

Dorothy Pope, and Gary Welden. In response to the meeting, the NCHS is offering an operations 

plan outlining the future of the McRitchie-Hollis Museum and the NCHS.  

 The following is the 2019 operations plan developed and presented by Emily Kimbell, 

director of the Newnan-Coweta Historical Society and McRitchie-Hollis Museum. By refocusing 

the McRitchie-Hollis Museum and developing interactive, immersive programs, exhibits, and 

events, the NCHS staff and board intends to reinforce community trust in the two organizations 

and establish them as cornerstones for research and education.   

 

McRitchie-Hollis Museum (McRH) 
Mission, Vision, and Goals 

Mission Statement 

Preserving Coweta County history for the education and enlightenment of current and future 

generations through exhibits, programs and research facilities.  

 

Vision Statement  

The McRitchie-Hollis Museum will become The McRitchie-Hollis Museum of a Southern 

Town—a museum that documents, protects, preserves, and exhibits the rich cultural history of 

Newnan and surrounding Coweta County region and highlights the narratives of individuals, 

groups, organizations, and industries that shape the local community. This Museum will be a 

museum of excellence that honors the Hollis family, provides an interesting and worthwhile 



 

 3 

experience for visitors, and serves as a major attraction for visitors coming to Newnan. The 

Museum will act as an archivist of the community’s past, present, and future and serve as a 

resource for others involved in the preservation of the community’s history. The Museum will 

actively engage in promoting and showcasing this history by collaborating with other local 

organizations and providing educational and cultural programs for the public.  

Short-Term Goals (1-2 years) 

• Revitalize the McRitchie-Hollis Museum  

• Refocus McRitchie-Hollis Museum to feature permanent exhibit spaces 

• Increase and Diversify McRitchie-Hollis Museum Revenue Streams 

• Establish McRitchie-Hollis Museum as local center for Research, Education, and 

Community 

• Begin Docent program 

• Create Standard Operating Procedure Documents for Museum Staff and Volunteers 

 

Long-Term Goals (3-5 years) 

• Complete refocus/revitalization of McRitchie-Hollis Museum 

• Establish Museum as social, cultural, and economic center for community and situate 

Museum as destination historical museum.  

• Develop robust educational outreach programs with local secondary education 

institutions, state-wide higher education institutions, and other local museums.  

• Develop traveling exhibits/displays that will be located throughout the County  

• Strengthen Docent program with recruitment of dedicated staff of volunteers to assist in 

the daily activities of the museum 

  



 

 4 

Action Plan 

Section A: Refocus McRitchie-Hollis Museum 

Goal A1: Distinguish McRitchie-Hollis Museum from Newnan-Coweta Historical Society  

OBJECTIVES 

A1.1 Develop business operations plan for both organizations, detailing separate 

 mission statements and objectives 

A1.2 Establish primary objectives and functions for NCHS and McRH with NCHS 

 taking role as primarily support/advisory organization and McRH as publicly 

 functioning organization.  

A1.3 Complete Brand and Marketing Strategy for McRH to determine unique selling 

 proposition (USP) 

 

 KEY ACTION STEPS 

1. Complete appraisal of current NCHS and McRH policies documents and procedures 

2. Consult with NCHS staff, board members, and affiliates regarding objectives and 

expectations for future  

3. Develop understanding of distinct purpose and goals of each organization 

 

EXPECTED OUTCOME(S) 

1. Outcomes of stakeholder survey to understand shortcomings, expectations, and wishes 

2. Analysis of current NCHS and McRH policies/procedures and initial audit for future SOP 

creation 

3. Completion of NCHS and McRH business operations plan 

 

DATA EVALUATION AND MEASUREMENT(S) 

1. Amount and quality of feedback from NCHS stakeholders 

2. Increased understanding among staff and board members of organization operating 

procedures 

3. Unified mentality for approaching renovation of McRH  

 

PERSON RESPONSIBLE 

1. Director 

2. Board of Directors 

 

TARGET DATE 

• Sept 1, 2019 for Completion 

 

 

 

 



 

 5 

Goal A2: Develop Distinct Branding Material for McRitchie-Hollis Museum  

OBJECTIVES 

    A2.1  Create McRH logo for marketing and promotional use  

    A2.2  Roll out Branding announcement via external media outlets and internal   

  organizational channels (websites, social media, etc.)  

     A2.3 Consistently utilize new McRH logo for all appropriate staff correspondence 

 

 KEY ACTION STEPS 

1. Consult with graphic designer to construct new museum logo  

2. Plan logo reveal at stakeholder event 

3. Replace current McRH pictures/referrals with new logo  

4. Develop brand awareness for McRH by increasing museum mention on website and 

developing museum’s own social media strategy  

5. Utilize McRH logo in all museums staff correspond, adding logo to email 

correspondence, ordering new letterhead, and revamping gift shop with museum swagfau 

 

EXPECTED OUTCOME(S) 

1. Visual distinction of McRH museum as functioning organization with education, 

preservation, and outreach programs  

2. Brand awareness of McRH museum in Coweta County, surrounding areas, and beyond 

 

DATA EVALUATION AND MEASUREMENT(S) 

1. Approved logo for organization use 

2. Increased awareness of McRH museum and its purpose 

 

 PERSON RESPONSIBLE 

1. Consultant (Graphic Designer) 

2. Director 

3. Board of Directors 

 

TARGET DATE 

• Dec. 31, 2020 for Completion 



 

 6 

Section B: Refocus McRitchie-Hollis Museum to feature permanent exhibit spaces 

Goal B1: Renovate Rotating Exhibit Space 

OBJECTIVES 

 B1.1 Relocate offices from downstairs backroom to upstairs bedrooms 

 B1.2 Assess needs to convert old office space into workable rotating exhibit space 

 B1.3 Convert old office space into usable and attractive exhibit space 

 

 KEY ACTION STEPS 

1. Empty backroom space of all unnecessary items and move office items upstairs  

2. Using consultation report as guild, confer with NCHS staff to develop renovation plan 

for rotating exhibit space 

3. Solicit quotes from contractors for necessary renovations (paint, floor, lights) 

4.  Schedule renovations 

5. Mock up room into working exhibit space 

6. Note desired upgrades for future  

 

 EXPECTED OUTCOMES 

1. Upscale space to host rotating exhibits and museum events 

2.  Increased value for NCHS membership 

3. Increased opportunities for sponsored exhibits or traveling exhibits 

 

DATA EVALUATION AND MEASUREMENT(S) 

1. Increased interest in using McRH museum for sponsored or travelling exhibits 

2. Increased return on Membership renewal in new year 

3. Local media coverage regarding new space 

 

PERSON RESPONSIBLE 

1. Director 

2. Curator 

 

TARGET DATE 

• July 31, 2019 for Completion 

 



 

 7 

Goal B2: Create Plan for Permanent Exhibits at McRH (History of Home, History of Coweta 

County, Local Stories, etc.,) 

OBJECTIVES 

 B2.1 Assess current floor plan of museum and determine direction for future exhibits 

 B2.2 Create strategic plan for implementing permanent exhibits 

 B2.3 Begin process of refocusing current McRH exhibits into chosen 

 storylines/narratives 

 

 KEY ACTION STEPS 

1. Work with consultant(s) and NCHS curator to determine needs of McRH museum 

2. Design Museum mockup including new permanent exhibits 

3. Conduct cost analysis for permanent exhibit requirements 

4.  Develop strategic plan for development and renovation of permanent exhibits 

5. Identify Key Action Steps for individual rooms/exhibits when identified 

 

 EXPECTED OUTCOMES 

1. Floor plan of future McRH museum 

2. Unified focus between McRH stakeholders regarding director of the museum's future 

3. Established plan and strategy detailing implementation necessities 

 

DATA EVALUTION AND MEASUREMENT(S) 

1. Increased community interest in McRH and NCHS 

2. Increased return on Membership renewal in new year 

 

PERSON RESPONSIBLE 

1. Consultant  

2. Director 

3. Curator 

4. Board of Directors 

 

TARGET DATE 

• Dec 31, 2019 for Completion 

  



 

 8 

 

Section C: Increase and Diversify McRitchie-Hollis Museum Revenue Streams  

Goal C1: Secure Funding for Renovations 

OBJECTIVES 

 C1.1 Curate list of donatable fixtures necessary for McRH renovations 

 C2.1 Identify potential benefits from donations (name-recognition, tax deductions, etc.)  

 C2.3 Publicize list and benefits to potential donors 

 

 KEY ACTION STEPS 

1. Using McRH strategic plan and through consultation with Curator, create a list of 

“needed” items for new exhibits 

2. Research and develop benefit plan for various levels of sponsorships 

3. Publicize needs list and benefit package through various channels (website, membership 

list, social media) 

4. Develop follow-up procedures/protocol for thanking donors 

 

 EXPECTED OUTCOMES 

1. Increased donations of items needed by Museum 

2. Increased monetary donations to Museum 

3. Increased visibility regarding Museum’s needs and donation’s use 

 

DATA EVALUATION AND MEASUREMENT(S) 

1. NCHS members joining at higher member level 

2. Increase in donated funds dedicated to museum purposes 

 

PERSON RESPONSIBLE 

1. Director 

2. Curator 

3. Assistant Director 

4. Board of Directors 

 

TARGET DATE 

• Dec 31, 2020 for Completion 

 

  



 

 9 

Goal C2: Establish Corporate Sponsorship program for special projects/exhibits 

OBJECTIVES 

 C2.1 Develop Corporate Sponsorship Package Opportunities  

 C2.2 Secure Corporate Sponsor for McRH exhibit 

 

 KEY ACTION STEPS 

1. Research existing museum corporate sponsorship programs 

2. Develop multi-level corporate sponsorship program for exhibits, special projects, and 

events 

3. Publicize corporate sponsorship opportunities on organization website and other 

channels  

4. Seek out and secure corporate sponsors for following fiscal year 

 

 EXPECTED OUTCOMES 

1. Stronger connection between McRH and NCHS and the local business community 

2. Donations with higher monetary value 

3. Ability to provide more technologically advanced and professional exhibits 

 

DATA EVALUATION AND MEASUREMENT(S) 

1. Construction of thorough, easy-to-understand sponsorship packages 

2. Onset of business sponsorship inquiries 

3. Securement of corporate sponsor  

 

PERSON RESPONSIBLE 

1. Director 

2. Assistant Director 

3. Board of Directors 

 

TARGET DATE 

• Dec 31, 2019 for Completion 

 

  



 

 10 

Section D: Establish McRH as local center for Research, Education, and Community 

Goal D1: Increase Museum Foot Traffic and Annual Visits  

OBJECTIVES 

 D1.1 Create audit of past museum visitors including day, time, and reason for visit 

 D1.2 Collect data regarding potential museum visitor’s interests, expectations, and  

          desires   

 D1.3 Craft marketing plan/proposal based on data findings 

 D1.4 Develop programming and events catered to target market 

 

 KEY ACTION STEPS 

1. Audit data from previous years to assess number of museum visitors 

2. Analyze data to determine most frequently visited day and time of museum visits along 

with reason for visit 

3.  Create survey about museum operation of hours, programs, exhibits, etc. 

4. Send survey to past visitors 

5. Analyze data to assess visitor's expectations for future of museum and likelihood of 

returning to museum 

6. Use collected data as base material to construct future marketing plan and make decisions 

regarding future programming 

7. Utilizing marketing plan as basis, develop programming and events catered to target 

market 

 

 EXPECTED OUTCOMES 

1. Better understanding of past visitor experience and behavior 

2. Consumer satisfaction survey for distribution 

3. Insight into consumer expectations for museum 

4. Data analysis tuned into key action plan  

 

DATA EVALUATION AND MEASUREMENT(S) 

1. 30-40% response rate from members (average for non-profit among internal members) 

2. Better understanding among staff of consumer needs  

3. Key action plan for 2020 

 

PERSON RESPONSIBLE 

1. Director 

2. Assistant Director 

3. Office Manager 

 

TARGET DATE 

• Nov 1, 2019 for Completion 



 

 11 

Goal D2: Establish Education Outreach Program 

OBJECTIVES 

 D2.1 Develop Education Outreach Program Action Plan  

 D2.2 Launch of Comprehensive Education Program complete with lecture series, 

 workshop, school outreach, and teacher resource development components 

 D2.3 Begin grant writing process to secure long term funding for education program  

 

 KEY ACTION STEPS 

1. Research education programs of comparable museums  

2. Analyze current needs and gaps in education programs currently provided in the 

community 

3. Create education outreach program 0perations plan  

4. Follow key action steps in operations plan to launch first activities and resources 

5. Research education grants to fund education program  

 

 EXPECTED OUTCOMES 

1. Understanding of typical education programs at equivalent museums  

2. Awareness of needs and gaps in educational outreach programs in local community and 

beyond  

3. Increased partnership between NCHS/McRH and Coweta County schools 

4. Expansion of NCHS/McRH market base 

5. Refocus of McRH as educational resource 

6. Refocus of McRH as family-friendly 

7. Securement of education grant  

 

DATA EVALUATION AND MEASUREMENT(S) 

1. Completed field survey to assess trends in museum education programs 

2. Understanding of needs for local educators 

3. Increase in field trips, school visits, and local school partnership 

4. Securement of long-term funding for program 

 

PERSON RESPONSIBLE 

1. Director 

2. Assistant Director 

 

TARGET DATE 

• Dec 31, 2019 for Completion 

  



 

 12 

Goal D3: Partner with other local organizations to provide rich programs for community 

members 

OBJECTIVES 

 D3.1 Renew relationship and trust with downtown merchants and city employees 

 D3.2 Become an active participant in ongoing community events 

 D3.3 Partner with local organizations to develop new programs/events that better both 

 businesses 

  

 KEY ACTION STEPS 

1. Attend downtown events including MainStreet meetings, Chamber of Commerce events, 

etc. 

2. Network with downtown directors, volunteers, and staff 

3. Partner with downtown and become a participant in local community events (Market 

Day, Parade, NewnaNights, etc.).  

4. Reach out to local businesses and organizations to partner in events and programs 

 

 EXPECTED OUTCOME(S) 

1. Reinforce trust and support among downtown merchants, staff, and officials 

2. Increased presence at community events 

3. Increased awareness of McRH/NCHS as downtown organization 

4. Initiation of collaborative projects between McRH and downtown organizations 

 

DATA EVALUATION AND MEASUREMENT(S) 

1. Inclusion of NCHS /McRH at downtown events 

2. Community recognition of McRH as downtown organization 

3. Interest from other downtown organizations regarding collaborative projects and events 

 

PERSON RESPONSIBLE 

1. Director 

2. Assistant Director 

 

TARGET DATE 

• Throughout 2019-2020 

 

  



 

 13 

Goal D4: Create Docent Program 

OBJECTIVES 

 D4.1 Conduct field study to research docent programs in equivalent museums 

 D4.2 Develop docent training program 

 D4.3 Launch docent volunteer program   

  

 KEY ACTION STEPS 

1. Research docent programs at equivalent museums 

2. Create docent program proposal outlining necessary funds/requirements for program 

launch 

3.  Create docent training program for all incoming volunteers 

4.  Promote launch of docent program via social media and local media channels 

5.  Launch docent program at McRH museum 

 

 EXPECTED OUTCOME(S) 

1. Standardized McRH tours and education among tour guides 

2. Revamping of McRH tours and specialized tours availability 

3. Increased ability to conduct group tours  

 

DATA EVALUATION AND MEASUREMENT(S) 

1. Thorough training document for all docents 

2. Recruitment of 5 to 10 docents in first year of program 

3. Increased satisfaction among Museum visitors  

 

PERSON RESPONSIBLE 

1. Assistant Director 

2. Director 

 

TARGET DATE 

• August 1, 2019 for Completion 

  



 

 14 

 Section E: Create Standard Operating Procedure Documents for Museum Staff and 

Volunteers 

Goal E1: Audit all current SOP 

OBJECTIVES 

 E1.1 Audit current McRH/NCHS policies for gaps and weaknesses 

 E1.2 Develop action plan for updating all SOP 

  

 KEY ACTION STEPS 

1. Collect all current NCHS/McRH documents both print and digital 

2. Organize current documents and separate out all policies and procedures 

3. Note any missing procedures or any procedures needing updating 

4. Create an action plan to update all SOP  

 

 EXPECTED OUTCOME(S) 

1. Thorough understanding of staff expectations, organization policies, and business 

procedures 

2. Unified action plan for developing thorough standard operating procedure for museum 

staff and volunteers 

 

DATA EVALUATION AND MEASUREMENT(S) 

1. Analysis of all areas of museum (administration, collection, etc.). 

2. Creation of SOP action plan   

 

PERSON RESPONSIBLE 

1. Director 

2. Assistant Director 

3. Curator 

4. Office Manager 

5. Board 

 

TARGET DATE 

• Sept. 1, 2019 for Completion 

  



 

 15 

Goal E2: Craft all necessary SOP, by-laws, and protocols  

OBJECTIVES 

 E2.1 Organize existing policies and procedures in manageable binder and digital format 

 (employee handbook) 

 E 2.2 Fill in missing SOP for NCHS/McRH functions  

 E2.2 Create/establish SOP for all new programs, events, and jobs 

  

 KEY ACTION STEPS 

1. Craft headers/ sub-headers for SOP binder/employee handbook and organize existing 

information  

2. Use action plan to develop SOP for all missing procedures 

3. Create standard for establishing new programs and events  

4. Include template for program and event proposal in SOP 

5. Get board approval for SOP 

 

 EXPECTED OUTCOME(S) 

1. Collation of current NCHS/McRH policies/procedures into one organized unit 

2. Documentation of employee handbook in print and digital format 

3. Thorough understanding of operating policies for all staff, volunteers, and board 

members 

4. Creation of procedures for future program and event implementation  

 

DATA EVALUATION AND MEASUREMENT(S) 

1. Unified understanding of NCHS/McRH policies and procedures among all staff, 

volunteers, and board members 

2. Completely documented SOP for all aspects of NCHS/McRH usable for all future 

employees  

 

PERSON RESPONSIBLE 

1. Director 

2. Assistant Director 

3. Curator 

4. Office Manager 

5. Board 

 

TARGET DATE 

• Dec. 31, 2019 for Completion 

 

  

 



 

 16 

Newnan-Coweta Historical Society 
Mission, Vision, and Goals 

Mission Statement 

The Newnan-Coweta Historical Society (NCHS) is a non-profit organization dedicated to the 

interpretation and preservation of the historical, cultural and architectural heritage of Coweta 

County through its programs, exhibitions and collections while serving, engaging and educating 

the diverse communities of Coweta County and the surrounding region.  

 

Vision Statement 

The NCHS will serve as the local community’s primary source for historical information and 

resources. The NCHS will serve as a research center for scholars, academics, historians, writers, 

and public researchers and will support the work of preserving, studying, and promoting history 

through a robust scholarship fund and through collaborative work with academic institutions. 

The NCHS will become a prominent fixture in the community, supporting the preservation of 

Coweta County’s heritage with education outreach programs, vibrant community programs, and 

partnerships with local organizations including the McRitchie-Hollis Museum.  

Short-Term Goals (1-2 years) 

• Build NCHS Membership Program and Increase Annual Membership 

• Strengthen NCHS Position as a Research Center 

• Solidify and Clarify Collections Policies and Procedures 

• Centralize NCHS as a Community Partner and Supporter 

• Create Standard Operating Procedure Documents for NCHS Staff and Volunteers 

 

Long-Term Goals (3-5 years) 

• Completely catalogue NCHS archives and provide robust findings aids for potential 

researchers 

• Establish NCHS as research center for scholars 

• Create Reading Room Space for Researchers 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  



 

 17 

Action Plan 

 Section A: Build NCHS Membership Program 

Goal A1: Audit all current SOP 

OBJECTIVES 

 A1.1 Evaluate current membership levels and benefits 

 A1.2 Research membership benefits at comparable museums 

 A1.3 Revamp membership program to provide increased benefits for members 

  

 KEY ACTION STEPS 

1. Evaluate existing SOP, website, social media for NCHS policies regarding membership 

and membership benefits 

2. Analyze membership policies for consistency  

3. Analyze current member list and member level for most popular membership plan 

4. Research membership programs at similar museums to see how McRH museum 

compares 

5. Draft new membership plan with updated benefits for each membership level 

6. Launch new membership program  

 

 EXPECTED OUTCOME(S) 

1. Clear understanding of how our membership program compares among similar museums 

2. Launch of new membership plan 

3. Increase in membership overall 

4. Increase in membership at higher level 

 

DATA EVALUATION AND MEASUREMENT(S) 

1. Documentation of current membership programming and evaluation of standing among 

comparable museums 

2. Launch of new membership program 

3. 30% increase in active members in 2020 

4. 50% increase of members at “Associate level” 

 

PERSON RESPONSIBLE 

1. Director 

2. Board 

 

TARGET DATE 

• Sept. 1, 2019 for Completion 

  



 

 18 

Goal A2: Revamp Annual Membership Drive  

OBJECTIVES 

 A2.1 Evaluate current membership drive strategies 

 A2.2 Develop key action plan for 2020 Membership Drive 

 A2.3 Implement revamped membership drive  

  

 KEY ACTION STEPS 

1. Evaluate existing SOP, website, social media for NCHS policies/ procedures for 

membership drive 

2. Conduct SWAT analysis for membership drive policies  

3. Identify best method for reaching existing members for renewal  

4. Research community for areas of NCHS membership  

5. Identify best ways to reach potential new members 

6. Reach out to potential new members and invite them to join NCHS 

 

 EXPECTED OUTCOME(S) 

1. Clear understanding of membership drive procedures 

2. Completed SWAT analysis for membership drive policies 

3. List of existing and potential membership including best way to reach them 

4. Renewal of current members at same or higher membership level 

5. Increase in new membership 

 

DATA EVALUATION AND MEASUREMENT(S) 

1. 95% retention rate of existing NCHS members 

2. Creation of potential member list 

3. 30% increase in active members in 2020 

 

PERSON RESPONSIBLE 

1. Director 

2. Office Manager 

 

TARGET DATE 

• Nov. 1, 2019 for Completion 

  



 

 19 

Section B: Strengthen NCHS as a research center  

Goal B1: Initiate collaborations with institutes of higher learning  

OBJECTIVES 

 B1.1 Identify past moments of academic collaboration between NCHS and institutes of 

 higher learning 

 B1.2 Seek out mutually beneficial collaborative partnerships (i.e.: archive projects, 

 internship programs, class projects, etc.).  

 B1.3 Establish relationship with Georgia universities and colleges that provides benefit to 

 NCHS and learning/education resources to students 

  

 KEY ACTION STEPS 

1. Identify any past collaborations between NCHS and institutes of higher learning 

2. Reconnect with academic directors and establish solid working relationships 

3. Identify ways to establish more partnerships between NCHS and GA 

universities/colleges, especially with West GA, West GA Tech, and Georgia State 

4. Form partnerships and engage in collaborative projects that benefit both parties 

 

 EXPECTED OUTCOME(S) 

1. Development of relationship between NCHS and institutes of higher education 

2. Launch of academic projects at NCHS 

3. Improvement of NCHS reputation as academic supporter  

 

DATA EVALUATION AND MEASUREMENT(S) 

1. Strengthened relationship between NCHS and multiple GA universities and college 

2. Launch of academic projects at NCHS 

 

PERSON RESPONSIBLE 

1. Director 

2. Assistant Director 

 

TARGET DATE 

• Throughout 2019 and 2020 

 



 

 20 

Goal B2: Solidify and clarify collections policies and procedures 

OBJECTIVES 

 B2.1 Audit of current collections policies and procedures 

 B2.1 Develop action plan for updating all collections policies, filling in missing 

 procedures and gaps in  

 B1.3 Implement complete collection SOP 

  

 KEY ACTION STEPS 

1. Collect all current collections policy documents both print and digital 

2. Organize current documents and separate out all policies and procedures 

3. Note any missing procedures or any procedures needing updating 

4. Create an action plan to update all collection policies 

5. Use action plan to develop SOP for all missing procedures 

6. Get board approval for new collections policies 

7. Implement and publicize new policies for collections 

 

 EXPECTED OUTCOME(S) 

1. Collation of current collection’s policies/procedures into one organized unit 

2. Complete collections policies, filling in missing gaps 

3. Documentation of collection handbook in print and digital format 

 

DATA EVALUATION AND MEASUREMENT(S) 

1. Unified understanding of collection policies and procedures among all staff, volunteers, 

and board members 

2. Completely documented collections policies and procedures  

 

PERSON RESPONSIBLE 

1. Curator 

2. Director 

 

TARGET DATE 

• Dec 31, 2019 for completion 

 

  



 

 21 

Goal B3: Organize archives into more usable/manageable space 

OBJECTIVES 

 B3.1 Audit of current archives/artifacts in collections and storage procedure 

 B3.2 Develop action plan for ensuring all collection items are properly stored and 

 documented 

 B3.3 Complete process of properly repackaging, securing, and storing all collection 

 items  

 B3.4 Complete process of accurately documenting all collections items  

  

 KEY ACTION STEPS 

1. Asses state of all collection items  

2. Audit collection items, documenting current state and any storage needs 

3. Create an action plan to update all storage and documentation 

4. Purchase new storage equipment 

5. Properly secure and document all collection items 

 

 EXPECTED OUTCOME(S) 

1. Audit of current collection’s state 

2. Audit of current collection’s documentation and missing documentation 

3. Proper securement of all collection items 

4. Proper documentation of all collection items  

 

DATA EVALUATION AND MEASUREMENT(S) 

1. Fully document collection in digital and print copy 

2. Collection that meets archive standards 

 

PERSON RESPONSIBLE 

1. Curator 

2. Director 

 

TARGET DATE 

• Dec 31, 2019 for completion 

  



 

 22 

Section C: Centralize NCHS as a community partner and supporter 

OBJECTIVES 

 C1 Renew relationship and trust with downtown merchants and city employees 

 C2 Become an active participant in ongoing community events 

 C3 Partner with local organizations to develop new programs/events that better both 

 businesses 

 

 KEY ACTION STEPS 

1. Attend downtown events including MainStreet meetings, Chamber of Commerce events, 

etc. 

2. Network with downtown directors, volunteers, and staff 

3. Partner with downtown and become a participant in local community events (Market 

Day, Parade, NewnaNights, etc.). 

4. Reach out to local businesses and organizations to partner in events and programs 

 

 EXPECTED OUTCOME(S) 

1. Refocused trust and support among downtown merchants, staff, and officials 

2. Increased presence at community events 

3. Increased awareness of McRH/NCHS as downtown organization 

4. Initiation of collaborative projects between McRH and downtown organizations 

 

DATA EVALUATION AND MEASUREMENT(S) 

1. Inclusion of NCHS/McRH at downtown events 

2. Community recognition of McRH as downtown organization 

3. Interest from other downtown organizations regarding collaborative projects and events 

 

PERSON RESPONSIBLE 

1. Director 

2. Assistant Director 

 

TARGET DATE 

• Throughout 2019-2020 

 

 

  



 

 23 

Organizational Structure and Job Descriptions 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
(Assistant Director & Event Rental Coordinator are currently same person) 

 

  

NCHS Board 
NCHS Board 

President 

Director 

(NCHS/McRH) 

Assistant 

Director 

(NCHS/McRH) 

 

Curator 

(McRH) 

Office Manager—

Part-Time 

(NCHS/McRH) 

Event Rental 

Coordinator 

(NCHS) 



 

 24 

Newnan-Coweta Historical Society  

McRitchie-Hollis Museum 

Position Title: Director 

Location: Newnan, Georgia 

Duration: Salary 

Salary: $45,000/year 

 

Supervised by: President of the Newnan-Coweta Historical Society 

 

Summary 

Oversees and Manages the Newnan-Coweta Historical Society and McRitchie-Hollis Museum 

staff, facilities, and programs on a day-to-day basis, under the specific direction and policy 

guidance of the Newnan-Coweta Historical Society President and Board of Directors  

 

Duties and Responsibilities 

• Manage day-to-day operations based on policy guidance from Newnan-Coweta Historical 

Society President and Board of Directors 

• Work collaboratively with the President and Board to understand the institutional 

objectives and strategies related to the Newnan-Coweta Historical Society 

• Supervise the staff, volunteers and interns at all current and future Newnan-Coweta 

Historical Society facilities 

• Work with the President, Board, and Board Committees on short and long-term strategic 

planning, as well as annual goals and objectives 

• Develop and implement educational programs, exhibits, and displays 

• Responsible for marketing, outreach, and public relations strategies to increase 

community awareness and visitor attendance 

• Implement community and other programs, which will enhance the image of the 

McRitchie-Hollis Museum and the Newnan-Coweta Historical Society and encourage the 

donation of appropriate artifacts and funs 

• Plan and organize events and identify relevant grants and sponsorship to enhance funding 

for the Newnan-Coweta Historical Society and the McRitchie-Hollis Museum 

• Develop, plan, arrange, and manage programs for various audiences 

• Work with the Newnan-Coweta Historical Society board to develop exhibition content 

and interpretive opportunities for new exhibits 

• Obtain any necessary licenses or permits for the benefit and function of the Newnan-

Coweta Historical Society 

• Attend community events and meetings as necessary to promote the Newnan-Coweta 

Historical Society and McRitchie-Hollis Museum and to increase community visibility 

and membership 



 

 25 

• Oversee refocus/revitalization McRitchie-Hollis Museum including rebranding strategies, 

renovation projects, and museum narrative decisions 

• Perform other duties necessary for the successful operation of the Newnan-Coweta 

Historical Society and the McRitchie-Hollis Museum programs and facilities 

 

Required Knowledge, Skills, and Abilities 

• Required to reside in Coweta County 

• Extensive knowledge of the history of Coweta County, including knowledge specific to 

the various municipalities and communities 

• Extensive knowledge of museum and artifacts management 

• The skills to assist in the development of short and long-term goals and strategies and the 

ability to implement approved plans 

• Ability to work with the Newnan-Coweta Historical Society Board and other agencies to 

develop and implement community activities and other programs to enhance the image of 

the Newnan-Coweta Historical Society and encourage increased membership, donation of 

appropriate artifacts and funds 

• Knowledge of availability of grants and procurement procedures 

 

Minimum Qualifications 

● BA/BS in History, Museum Management, or related field with five years of experience 

working int eh field 

● Master’s Degree preferred 

● Favorable background investigation as determined by a review of Federal, State, and 

Local reporting agencies 

 

ADA Status 

Must be physically and mentally able with or without reasonable accommodations to perform all 

of the duties listed under Duties and Responsibilities, all of which are deemed “essential 

functions of the job.”  

 

Work Requirements 

75% McRH 

25% NCHS 

  

  



 

 26 

Newnan-Coweta Historical Society  

McRitchie-Hollis Museum 

Position Title: Curator 

Location: Newnan, Georgia 

Duration: Salary 

Salary: $35,000/year 

 

Supervised by: Director 

 

Summary 

Highly responsible position charged with the day-to-day care, inventory, tracking, and 

management of artifacts maintained by the Newnan-Coweta Historical Society 

 

Duties and Responsibilities 

• Conduct periodic inventory of collection to maintain and preserve objects and artifacts 

• Accept loans and donations from clients, ensuring all necessary paperwork is completed.  

• Maintain and inventory all artifacts and exhibits, tracking items through the use of 

available software (such as Past Perfect), including photographs and descriptions, and 

recording who donated or loaned items to NCHS 

• Maintain/oversee cleaning of all artifacts in collections and in museum to ensure posterity 

• Oversee request and use of archive research material 

• Monitor collections building and museum environment to ensure favorable conditions for 

preservation 

• In collaboration with director, plan exhibits and programs 

• Implement the installation of exhibits, ensuring artifacts are presentable and tell the story 

of the exhibit 

• Ensure that artifacts are property returned to Collections or returned to the proper owner 

once exhibits are complete 

• Assist in the grant application process for the support of museum programming 

• Participate in community events and meetings as necessary to promote NHS facilities and 

activities to increase membership 

• Help prepare for and staff McRitchie-Hollis events as needed 

• Participate in meetings with the Collection Committee to assist in discussion about 

accessioning/deaccessioning objects in collections 

• Supervise collections GRA and/or other interns 

• Assist in the day-to-day operations of the museum(s) in the absence of the Director 

• When necessary, conduct tours of the McRitchie-Hollis Museum and other NCHS venues 

and facilities, sharing the rich history and offering and engaging visitor experience 

Perform any necessary duties for the successful promotion of NCHS 

 

 



 

 27 

Required Knowledge, Skills, and Abilities 

• Ability to maintain necessary records for the inventory and tracking of donated artifacts, 

papers, photographs, collections, etc. and for the return of loaned artifacts 

• Ability to digitize photographs, documents, and other files for the digital archives and for 

use in exhibits and publications 

• Ability to conduct research for clients in the search of historical information on their 

home or their families, etc.  

• Working knowledge of Past Perfect and InDesign software 

• Knowledge of archive best practices 

• Ability to construct narratives and documentation for exhibit labels 

• Ability to make connections with potential donors, lenders, and community leaders 

• Ability to envision new exhibit ideas and pitch them to director 

• Ability to accomplish the organizational goals of NCHS and develop new ideas and 

facility usage options for consideration by the director and the NCHS board 

 

Minimum Qualifications 

● BA/BS degree from an accredited university with at least two years of experience in a 

museum setting 

● Master’s Degree preferred 

● Favorable background investigation as determined by a review of Federal, State, and 

Local reporting agencies 

 

ADA Status 

Must be physically and mentally able with or without reasonable accommodations to perform all 

of the duties listed under Duties and Responsibilities, all of which are deemed “essential 

functions of the job.”  

 

Work Requirements 

100% McRH 

  



 

 28 

Newnan-Coweta Historical Society 

McRitchie-Hollis Museum 

 

Position Title: Assistant Director 

Location: Newnan, Georgia 

Duration: Full-Time (exempt) 

Salary: $35,000/year 

 

Supervised by: Director 

 

Summary 

Assists director in promoting and implementing goals and objectives of Newnan-Coweta 

Historical Society and McRitchie-Hollis Museum. Oversees McRitchie-Hollis Museum docent 

program and education outreach program.  

 

Duties and Responsibilities 

• Assist director with creation, development, and implementation of NCHS and McRitchie-

Hollis education and community outreach programs 

• Work with director, to secure venue, catering, contractors, etc. for organization events  

• Help prepare for and staff NCHS and McRitchie-Hollis events as needed 

• Participate in community events and meetings as necessary to promote NCHS facilities 

and activities to increase membership 

• Assist director with securing of sponsorship and funding opportunities 

• Develop organization programs and events submitting program proposals to director 

• Assist director with research needs for special projects  

• Create and manage McRitchie-Hollis docent program, under direction of director 

• When necessary, conduct tours of the McRitchie-Hollis Museum and other NCHS venues 

and facilities, sharing our rich history and offering an engaging visitor experience 

• Work with director to create advertising and marketing campaign for organizations and 

implement campaign via marketing strategies including social media 

 

Required Knowledge, Skills, and Abilities 

• Attention to detail and problem-solving skills 

• Excellent written and verbal communication skills 

• Strong organizational and planning skills 

• Ability to develop marketing and advertising campaigns to promote the goals and 

objectives of NCHS through public presentation at community events and meetings 

• Ability to accomplish the organizational goals of NCHS and develop new ideas and 

facility usage options for consideration by the director and the NCHS board 

Minimum Qualifications 



 

 29 

● BA/BS degree  

● At least two years of marketing experience or extensive community involvement with 

volunteer organizations 

● Proficient social media and computer skills, including Microsoft Office Suite 

 

ADA Status 

Must be physically and mentally able with or without reasonable accommodations to perform all 

of the duties listed under Duties and Responsibilities, all of which are deemed “essential 

functions of the job.”  

 

Work Requirements 

70% NCHS 

30% Museum 

  



 

 30 

Newnan Coweta Historical Society 

McRitchie-Hollis Museum 

 

Position Title: Office Manager 

Location: Newnan, Georgia 

Duration: Part-Time 

Salary: $12.50-$15.00/hour 

Typical Work Hours: Tues-Saturday 10am-3pm (McRitchie-Hollis Museum Hours) 

 

Supervised by: Director 

 

Summary 

The office manager (part-time) is responsible for front office activities of NCHS and the 

McRitchie-Hollis Museum including answering phones, giving tours, and greeting visitors. 

Responsible for managing, ordering, and monitoring office supplies; assisting with mailing 

campaigns; performing data entry; documenting company receipts and income; and other office 

duties. 

 

Duties and Responsibilities 

● Greeting visitors, answering a high-volume of incoming phone calls, and delivering 

world-class service to NCHS members and McRitchie-Hollis museum visitors. 

● Provide general support to visitors, including giving high-quality tours to museum 

visitors 

● Purchasing office supplies and equipment and maintaining proper stock levels. 

● Point person for maintenance, mailing, shipping, supplies, equipment, bills and errands 

● Design and implement filing systems 

● Ensure accurate recording of company data with security, integrity and confidentiality 

● Reconcile daily and monthly business expenses and income, reporting all issues to 

director  

● Manage relationships with vendors, service providers and landlords, ensuring that all 

items are invoiced and paid on time 

● Coordinate travel, including flight, hotel, and car rental reservations. 

● Participate actively in the planning and execution of company events 

 

Required Knowledge, Skills, and Abilities 

● Ability to develop an extensive knowledge of NCSH venues, facilities, policies, and 

programs 

● Excellent time management skills and ability to multitask and prioritize work 

● Attention to detail and problem-solving skills 

● Excellent written and verbal communication skills 



 

 31 

● Strong organizational and planning skills 

● Knowledge of accounting, data and administrative management practices and procedures 

 

Minimum Qualifications 

● Associate degree required; B.A. or B.S. preferred 

● Proficient computer skills, including Microsoft Office Suite 

● Prior experience handling office responsibilities, experience in customer service, or 

related field 

 

ADA Status 

Must be physically and mentally able with or without reasonable accommodations to perform all 

of the duties listed under Duties and Responsibilities, all of which are deemed “essential 

functions of the job.”  

 

Work Requirements 

70% NCHS 

30% Museum 

  



 

 32 

Newnan-Coweta Historical Society 

Position Title: Event Rental Coordinator 

Location: Newnan, Georgia 

Duration: Contract 

Salary: 10% of Sales 

 

Supervised by: Director 

 

Summary 

Responsible for booking Newnan-Coweta Historical Society venues for rentals. Markets 

Newnan-Coweta Historical Society venues by developing and implementing marketing and 

advertising strategies and campaigns to promote NCHS programs and facilities. 

 

Duties and Responsibilities 

• Meet with potential renters to tour NCHS venues including Train Depot and McRitchie-

Hollis Museum 

• Manage rental contracts; oversee rental deposits, refunds, and payments 

• Manage rental access and work to ensure renters are granted access to facility during 

rental period 

• Answer questions about NCHS venues and rental policies 

• Monitor NCHS venues before and after event to ensure facilities are in acceptable 

condition; report necessary modifications/renovations to director 

• Implement marketing and advertising campaigns for the promotion of NCHS venues 

including updating website and social media specific to NCHS venue rentals 

• Assist in the development of organizational goals to help explore new opportunities to 

promote NCHS venues and programs 

• Assist NCHS staff in the maintenance and updating of NCHS venues promotional 

material 

 

Required Knowledge, Skills, and Abilities 

• Excellent selling, communication and negotiation skills 

• Strong interpersonal skills  

• Ability to develop an extensive knowledge of NCSH venues, facilities, policies, and 

programs 

• Ability to market and promote NCHS venues to diverse groups of potential users and 

members 

• Ability to track sales and marketing successes through analysis and presentation of 

reports 

• Ability to develop and maintain professional promotional materials and utilize material 

for the successful promotion of NCHS 



 

 33 

• Ability to accomplish the organizational goals of NCHS and develop new ideas and 

facility usage options for consideration by the director and the NCHS board 

 

Minimum Qualifications 

● High School Diploma or Equivalent 

● Proven work experience as a sales representative 

● Proficient computer skills, including Microsoft Office Suite 

 

Work Requirements 

100% NCHS 

  



 

 34 

 

Financial Considerations/Stability 

Due to the considerable undertaking both the NCHS and the McRH have chosen to pursue, an 

increase in budget is necessary. To accomplish the set goals, the organizations need additional 

staff that is highly qualified and experienced; funds to craft high-quality exhibits and programs; 

and the monetary ability to maintain two historic buildings. NCHS and McRH stakeholders 

recognize, however, that an increase in budget must be accompanied with an increase in funds.  

 

To offset the increased budget, we propose diversifying the organization’s revenue streams by 

taking advantage of the following revenue streams:  

• Sponsorships: As outlined in Section C of the McRitchie-Hollis action plan, the McRH 

museum currently does not receive nor pursue corporate sponsorships for exhibits. 

Corporate sponsorships are a traditional revenue fund for non-profit organizations and 

museums. In the coming year, the McRH staff plans to create and publicize a corporate 

sponsorship package and secure sponsorships for exhibits, programs, and events.  

 

• Grants: The NCHS routinely receives a nominal amount of funds in grant money, yet 

grants remain a relatively untapped revenue market for the organization. Georgia funding 

offers opportunity for historic preservation grants, historic landscape grants, non-profit 

enhancement grants, and grant-matching opportunities through departments including, 

but not limited to, the Georgia Council for the Arts, Georgia Department of Economic 

Development, Georgia Department of Natural Resources, and Georgia Humanities 

Council.  

 

• Fundraising Drives: The NCHS and McRH rely on donations and membership dues as 

steady sources of income; however, the organizations do not currently have any events 

and/or programs solely dedicated to fundraising activities.  

 

• Membership Drive: As indicated in Key Action Step A2, NCHS plans to revamp its 

annual membership drive by providing more benefits to current members and seeking out 

new target markets for increased membership. The local historic district is full of vibrant 

members dedicated of the preservation of the area’s history. The goal of NCHS is to 

begin its membership growth by first targeting its neighbors, the other members of the 

historic district.  

 

Conclusion 
Revamping and refocusing organization are challenging endeavors to take on by a staff and 

board. The Newnan-Coweta Historical Society and McRitchie-Hollis Museum have assumed a 

plan that places the organizations into two distinct roles with the NCHS as overseer, governing 

organization, and administrative officer and McRitchie-Hollis Museum as educator and social 



 

 35 

gathering space. However, these two organizations support and depend on each other and both 

are dedicated to the preservation of Coweta County and Newnan history. The NCHS and McRH 

staff are ambitious in their goals for the two organizations; however, we see Coweta County and 

Newnan as the ideal space for enacting such goals. The rich history and important narratives 

coupled with a strong community provide a wealth of opportunity for our organization’s growth.  
 
 



NCHS Budget FISCAL YEAR 2019

FY 2018 FY 2019 FY 2019 FY 2019 FY 2019
REVENUE PRIOR YEAR PROPOSED Jan 2019 to May 2019 VARIANCE +/- PRIOR YEAR

Rental (Train Depot) 92706.00 100000.00 60109.56 (39890.44) (32596.44)

Programs 0.00 300.00 490.00 190.00 490.00

Events 15579.00 15000.00 0.00 (15000.00) (15579.00)

Donation 2501.55 3000.00 340.00 (2660.00) (2161.55)

Scholarship Donation 22500.00 20000.00 20000.00 0.00 (2500.00)

Membership Dues 5997.52 7000.00 6625.00 (375.00) 627.48

Image License Sales/Royalties 340.34 200.00 0.00 (200.00) (340.34)

Grants 2000.00 2000.00 0.00 (2000.00) (2000.00)

West GA Refund 3300.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 (3300.00)

Gift Shop Sales 2888.10 3000.00 1244.00 (1756.00) (1644.10)

Interest 196.34 200.00 239.35 39.35 43.01

Misc. Income 1659.27 1000.00 107.75 (892.25) (1551.52)

TOTALS $149,668.12 $151,700.00 $89,155.66 ($62,544.34) ($32,596.44)

FY 2018 FY 2019 FY 2019 FY 2019 FY 2019
EXPENSES PRIOR YEAR PROPOSED ACTUAL VARIANCE +/- PRIOR YEAR

Payroll (Staff Pay) 31,669.71 103,050.00 46,062.94 (56,987.06) 14,393.23

In Thousands
#REF!

In Thousands
#REF!

In Thousands
#REF!



Payroll Taxes & Processing Fee 0.00 30,000.00 14,549.73 (15,450.27) 14,549.73

Open Events (Lecture Series, Programs, 

Open House)
2,768.79 3,000.00 1,793.44 (1,206.56) (975.35)

Ticketed Events 12,917.59 10,000.00 717.77 (9,282.23) (12,199.82)

Membership Drive 0.00 1,000.00 649.40 (350.60) 649.40

Scholarship Payout 2,500.00 7,500.00 2,500.00 (5,000.00) 0.00

Historic Marker 450.00 500.00 450.00 (50.00) 0.00

Gift Shop 600.77 500.00 481.63 (18.37) (119.14)

Grants 4,000.00 4,000.00 4,000.00 0.00 0.00

Intern 3,000.00 5,000.00 0.00 (5,000.00) (3,000.00)

Accounting Expenses 4,115.00 100.00 1,640.00 1,540.00 (2,475.00)

Transcational Fee (Credit Card/Bank 

Fee/PayPal Expense)
2,851.99 2,000.00 688.97 (1,311.03) (2,163.02)

Conferences 0.00 3,000.00 3,510.29 510.29 3,510.29

Insurance (D&O, Workers Comp, 

Liability/Property)
6,926.00 7,000.00 4,538.00 (2,462.00) (2,388.00)

Housekeeping (Depot) 9,307.99 8,000.00 2,570.41 (5,429.59) (6,737.58)

Utilities 6,346.01 5,000.00 3,175.32 (1,824.68) (3,170.69)

Phone & Internet 963.00 1,000.00 459.71 (540.29) (503.29)

Maintenance & Repair 3,975.65 12,000.00 9,768.21 (2,231.79) 5,792.56

Pest Control 150.00 200.00 210.00 10.00 60.00

Supplies 50.10 50.00 24.05 (25.95) (26.05)

Software/Website 956.13 1,500.00 1,013.86 (486.14) 57.73

Equipment (Computer, Office 

Furniture)
366.30 5,000.00 3,079.46 (1,920.54) 2,713.16



Security 83.85 100.00 64.53 (35.47) (19.32)

Organization Memberships 370.00 300.00 313.00 13.00 (57.00)

Advertising/Marketing 2,687.44 3,000.00 844.84 (2,155.16) (1,842.60)

Rental Expense 5,226.51 3,000.00 2,917.92 (82.08) (2,308.59)

Rental Refund 6,593.00 5,000.00 2,900.00 (2,100.00) (3,693.00)

Rental Commission 22,754.76 10,000.00 4,520.96 (5,479.04) (18,233.80)

Postage and Shipping 21.74 50.00 0.00 (50.00) (21.74)

Consulting 3,795.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 (3,795.00)

City Occupational License 20.00 40.00 40.00 0.00 20.00

State and Sales Tax 257.45 400.00 0.00 (400.00) (257.45)

Interest 0.00 400.00 217.98 (182.02) 217.98

Misc 1,467.85 1,500.00 4,776.56 3,276.56 3,308.71

TOTALS $137,192.63 $233,190.00 $118,225.31 ($114,711.02) ($18,713.65)



City of Newnan, Georgia - Mayor and Council 
 
Date: August 13, 2019   
 
Agenda Item: Contract Extension 

Concrete Lifting Services, On-Call 
 
Prepared by: Michael Klahr, Public Works Director  

 
 
 
Purpose:     To consider extending a contract award for concrete lifting services 
 
Background:   Separate sealed bids were received at the office of the City Manager, June 20, 
2017.  The bid submitted by AquaGuard Foundation Solutions was found to be most 
advantageous to the City and met all criteria outlined in the bid documents. 
 
This contract provides for, on-call, concrete lifting services, as needed.  Much progress has been 
made, but the City continues to maintain a considerable backlog in sidewalk repairs.  This work 
provides an additional resource for addressing sections of sidewalks that have experienced 
differential settlement but are otherwise in good repair. 
 
The original contract is an annual contract with an option to renew. 
 
To date, we have made area-wide repairs in Avery Park, Olmstead, Summergrove, Fox Ridge, 
Lora’s Place, the City pool and City Hall 
 
AquaGuard Foundation Solutions has agreed to further extensions of our existing contract at 
the same rates. 
 
Options: A. Award a contract extension to AquaGuard Foundation Solutions at 

current unit prices of $8.00/ ft of area; $6.00/ lb of material 
  

B. Other action as directed by Council 
 
Funding:      Capital Improvements Program 
 
Recommendation:     Option A      
 
Attachments:         Renewal confirmation letter 
    
      
        



 

875 Pickens Industrial Drive 
Marietta, GA  30062 

770-419-9111 

 

April 25, 2019 

 

RE:  Renewal of Annual Contract between AquaGuard Foundation Solutions, LLC. And City of Newnan 

 

To Whom it may concern, 

 

AquaGuard Foundation Solutions agrees to a 2-year extension on its current unit pricing per the current 

contract terms.   There will be no price change at this time. 

We are grateful to the City of Newnan for this opportunity and excited to work with you again this year. 

 

Thank You, 

 

Guy McCormack 

AquaGuard Foundation Solutions 
        



City of Newnan, Georgia - Mayor and Council 
 
Date: August 13, 2019   
 
Agenda Item: Partial Release from Stormwater Facility Maintenance 

Agreement 
 
Prepared by: Michael Klahr, Public Works Director  

 
 
 
Purpose:     To consider a partial release from a Stormwater Facility Maintenance Agreement 
made between Coweta County LTC LLC, and the City of Newnan, in Madison Park at Newnan 
Lakes 
 
Background:   As required by Ordinance, a Stormwater Facility Maintenance Agreement was 
executed between the City of Newnan and the property owner of Ansley Park Health & 
Rehabilitation which provides for the perpetual maintenance of the stormwater facilities 
addressing water quality for post-construction stormwater discharged from the site to waters of 
the State. 
 
The property owner has subsequently sub-divided the original parcel and is requesting to be 
relieved of the responsibility for the stormwater management for any development of the new 
parcel.   
 
A separate stormwater facility maintenance agreement will be required, post-construction, for 
any development of the new parcel. 
 
Options: A. Grant the partial release 
  

B. Other action as directed by Council 
 
Funding:      N/ A 
 
Recommendation:     Option A      
 
Attachments:     Document:  Partial Release, Cancellation and Termination of 

Stormwater Facility Management Agreement 
    
       Document:  Stormwater Facility Management Agreement (Original) 
 

Document:  Final Plat, Coweta County LTC, Unit#2 at Madison Park 
at Newnan Lakes 

      
        









































































        City of Newnan, Georgia - Mayor and Council 
 
   Date: August 13, 2019 
 
                                                         Agenda Item: Engineering Services Master Agreement-  
      
                             Lower Fayetteville Road Operations and Safety Project 
                                                  
     Prepared by: Michael Klahr, Public Works Director  
 
 
 
Purpose:     To consider approval for Engineering Services Master Agreement for the 
Lower Fayetteville Road Operations and Safety Project 
 
Background:   At a regular meeting, May 7, 2019, the City Council approved the recommended 
consultant, Heath & Lineback Engineers, Inc., for professional services for the Lower 
Fayetteville Road Operations and Safety Project. 
 
The City of Newnan has been awarded Federal-Aid funds for Preliminary Engineering, Phase I; 
Scoping, to develop a draft concept for improvements to Lower Fayetteville Road. 
 
Under the terms of the Engineering Services Master Agreement, the engineering firm will 
provide engineering design services for this project for a duration of three (3) years from the 
effective date.  Services will be provided in separate written Task Orders, approved by the Mayor 
and Council, at the recommendation of the Department of Public Works. 
  
Options: A. Approve Engineering Services Master Agreement  
  

B. Other action as directed by Council 
 
Funding:     N/ A 
 
Recommendation:     Option A      
 
Attachments: Document:  Engineering Services Master Agreement 
  
        



Page 1 of 10 

ENGINEERING SERVICES MASTER AGREEMENT 

BETWEEN CITY OF NEWNAN 

AND HEATH & LINEBACK ENGINEERS, INC. 

THIS ENGINEERING SERVICES MASTER AGREEMENT (also referred to as "Contract") is made and 
entered into on this __  _ day of ____________, 2019, by and between CITY OF NEWNAN, Georgia, 
hereinafter referred to as "Client," and Heath & Lineback Engineers, Inc., a Georgia corporation, its affiliates 
and subsidiaries, hereinafter referred to as "Consultant. " 

RECITALS: 

WHEREAS, Client desires to engage the services of Consultant for Engineering Services on the LOWER 
FAYETTEVILLE ROAD SAFETY AND OPERATIONAL IMPROVEMENT Project that will require the 
Consultant to furnish the Client with certain consulting services for an extended period involving multiple task 
orders; 

WHEREAS, Consultant has available and offers to provide personnel and facilities necessary to perform the 
services desired under this Agreement; 

NOW, THEREFORE, Client and Consultant agree as follows: 

I. DESCRIPTION OF PROJECT 

Heath & Lineback Engineers, Inc. will serve as the Engineering Firm responsible for design services 
for Operational and Safety improvements along Lower Fayetteville Road from Greison Trail to 
Summergrove Parkway/Sullivan Road administered by the Department of Public Works. 

No work shall begin on a particular task assignment until authorized by the Department of Public Works.  

Services to be provided may include but not be limited to evaluating the existing conditions, 
developing concept scoping documents, developing the scope of construction; engineering reports, 
development of preliminary and final design documents; cost estimates; drainage design & analysis; 
environmental documents; utility coordination and relocation plans; right of way plans and documents; 
specification and bid documents; contract administration, and other request as directed by the 
Department of Public Works. 

II. SCOPE OF CONSULTANT SERVICES 

Consultant agrees to perform those basic services described in separate written task orders approved by Client 
and Consultant (the "Services"). This Agreement provides the terms, obligations and conditions which shall 
control all work. Unless modified in by both parties, duties of Consultant shall not be construed to exceed those 

services specifically described in each task order. In the event work is authorized prior to the issuance of a 



Page 2 of 10 

written task order, any services performed by Consultant will be presumed to have been completed 
under the terms of this Agreement. 

III. CONTRACT DURATION 

This Contract authorizes Heath & Lineback Engineers, Inc. to serve as the Engineering Firm 
responsible for design services for operational and safety improvements of Lower Fayetteville Road 
for the CITY OF NEWNAN Department of Public Works for a duration of three (3) years from the 
effective date. 

IV. RESPONSIBILITIES OF CLIENT 

In addition to payment for the Services performed under this Agreement, Client shall: 

1. Assist and cooperate with Consultant in any manner necessary and within its ability to 
facilitate Consultant's performance under this Agreement. 

2. Designate in writing a person to act as Client's representative with respect to this Agreement. 
Except as otherwise provided by Georgia law, such person shall have complete authority to 
transmit instructions, receive information, interpret and define Client's policies, make decisions 
and execute documents on Client's behalf. 

3. Furnish Consultant with all technical data in Client's possession including, but not limited to, maps, 
surveys, drawings, soils or geotechnical reports, and any other information required by, or useful to, 
Consultant in performance of its Services under this Agreement. Consultant shall be entitled to rely 

upon the information supplied by Client. 

4. Notify Consultant of any known or potential health or safety hazards existing at or near the 
project site of which Client has knowledge. 

5. Work with Consultant to provide access to and/or obtain permission for Consultant to enter 
upon all property, whether or not owned by Client, as required to perform and complete the 
Services. 

6. If Consultant scope of work includes services during construction, to the extent authorized by 
Georgia law, Client will require the construction contractor to indemnify and hold harmless 
Consultant, its officers, employees, agents, and consultants against claims, suits, demands, 
liabilities, losses, damages, and costs, including reasonable attorneys' fees and all other costs of 
defense, arising out of the performance of the work of the contractor, breach of contract, or 
willful misconduct of the contractor or its subcontractors, employees, and agents. 

Client will require the contractor to name Consultant, its directors, officers and employees as 
additional insureds on the contractor's general liability insurance and/or Owner's and 
Contractor's Protective Policy (OCP), and any builder's risk, or other property insurance 
purchased by the contractor to protect work in progress or any materials, supplies, or 
equipment purchased for installation therein. 



Page 3 of 10 

Client will furnish contractor's certificates of insurance evidencing that Consultant, its officers, 
employees, agents, and consultants are named as additional insureds on contractor's general 
liability and property insurance applicable to the Project. Contractor's policies shall be primary, 
and any such insurance carried by the Consultant shall be excess and noncontributory. The 
certificates shall provide that Consultant be given 30 days' written notice prior to any 
cancellation thereof. 

V. AMERICANS WITH DISABILITIES ACT 

Any other provision of this Agreement to the contrary notwithstanding, unless otherwise specified in the Scope 
of Services, Client shall have sole responsibility as between Client and Consultant for compliance with the 
Americans With Disabilities Act ("ADA") 42 U.S.C. 12101 et seq., and the related regulations. 

VI. AUTHORIZATION AND COMPLETION 

In signing this Agreement, Client grants Consultant specific authorization to proceed with work as 
directed in written task orders. 

VII. COMPENSATION 

For the Services described, Client agrees to pay, and Consultant agrees to accept the total 
compensation in accordance with compensation terms included in each task order. Time charges shall 
be in accordance with the Hourly Rate Schedule contained in the approved task order; the rate 
schedule may be revised annually or more often but shall not exceed the actual cost of direct costs plus 
fixed fee and indirect expenses based on the most recent Georgia Department of Transportation 
(GDOT) audited overhead cost rate. Compensation may be billed monthly in summary form. Payment 
to Consultant is due upon presentation of invoice and a progress report indicating the services 
completed during the billing period. 

As long as Consultant has not defaulted under this Agreement, Client shall pay Consultant within 30 
days of the date of Consultant's invoices for services performed and reimbursable expenses incurred 
under this Agreement. If Client has reason to question or contest any portion of any such invoice, 
amounts questioned or contested shall be identified and notice given to Consultant within 15 days of 
the date of the invoice. Any portion of any invoice not contested shall be deemed to be accepted and 
approved for payment and shall be paid to Consultant within 30 days of the date of the invoice. The 
Client agrees to cooperate with Consultant in a mutual effort to resolve promptly any contested 
portions of the Consultant's invoices. 

In the event any uncontested portions of any invoice are not paid within 30 days of the date of 
Consultant's invoice, interest on the unpaid balance shall accrue beginning with the 31st day at the 
maximum interest rate permitted by law, and Consultant shall have the light to suspend work per 
Article XV, Suspension of Work. 



Page 4 of 10 

VIII. RESPONSIBILITY OF CONSULTANT 

A. Standard of Care - Professional Services 

Subject to the limitations inherent in the agreed scope of work as to the degree of care, amount 
of time and expenses to be incurred, and subject to any other limitations contained in this 
Agreement, Consultant shall perform its Services in accordance with generally accepted 
standards and practices customarily utilized by competent engineering firms in effect at the 
time Consultant's Services are rendered. 

B. Reliance upon Information Provided by Others 

If Consultant's performance of services hereunder requires Consultant to rely on information provided 
by other parties (excepting Consultant's subcontractors), Consultant shall not independently verify the 
validity, completeness, or accuracy of such information unless otherwise expressly engaged to do so in 
writing by Client. 

C. Consultant's Opinion of Costs 

Client acknowledges that construction cost estimates, financial analyses and feasibility 
projections are subject to many influences including, but not limited to, price of labor and 
materials, unknown or latent conditions of existing equipment or structures, and time or quality 
of performance by third parties. Client acknowledges that such influences may not be precisely 
forecasted and are beyond the control of Consultant and that actual costs incurred may vary 
substantially from the estimates prepared by Consultant. Consultant does not warrant or 
guarantee the accuracy of construction or development cost estimates. 

D. Limitation of Liability Associated with Work of Other Engineers and Design Builders  

Client acknowledges that preliminary work under this agreement may be used by the Client or others 
who will be considered Designers of Record. The Consultant acting as Engineer in no way relieves the 
Client or others for duties associated with their role of Engineer of Record for their designs. Those 
engineers shall retain full responsibility for performance and liability associated with their designs. 

E. Construction Phase Services 

1. Consultant's Activities at Construction Site. The presence of Consultant's personnel at a 
construction site, whether as on-site representative, resident engineer, construction manager, 
or otherwise, does not make Consultant responsible for those duties that belong to Client 
and/or construction contractors or others, and does not relieve construction contractors or 
others of their obligations, duties, and responsibilities, including, but not limited to, 
construction methods, means, techniques, sequences, and procedures necessary for completing 
all portions of the construction work in accordance with the contract documents, any health or 
safety programs and precautions required by such construction work, and any compliance 



Page 5 of 10 

with applicable laws and regulations. Any inspection or observation of the contractor's work is 
solely for the purpose of determining that the work is generally proceeding in conformance 
with the intent of the project specifications and contract documents. Consultant makes no 
warranty or guarantee with respect to the performance of a contractor. Consultant has no 
authority to exercise control over any construction contractor in connection with their work or 
health or safety programs and precautions. 

2. Shop Drawing and Submittal Review. If required by Consultant's Scope of Services, 
Consultant shall review shop drawings or other contractor submittals for general conformance 
with the intent of the contract documents. Consultant shall not be required to verify 
dimensions, to engineer contractor's shop drawings or submittals, nor to coordinate shop 
drawings or other submittals with other shop drawings or submittals provided by contractor. 

3. Record Drawings. Record drawings will be prepared, in part, on the basis of information 
compiled and furnished by others, and may not always represent the exact location, type of 
various components, or exact manner in which the Project was finally constructed. Consultant 
is not responsible for any errors or omissions in the information from others that are 
incorporated into the record drawings, but only to the extent that Consultant could not have 
identified such errors and omissions using reasonable due diligence. 

IX. ASSIGNMENT OF TASKS TO AFFILIATES 

Assignment of tasks, contractual rights or obligations are not contemplated or permitted under this agreement. 
This will not preclude the use of specialty sub-consultants approved by Client (see Article XV Subcontracts). 

X. ASBESTOS/HAZARDOUS MATERIALS 

Consultant and Consultant's subcontractors shall have no responsibility for the discovery, handling, removal, or 
disposal of or exposure of persons to asbestos or hazardous or toxic materials that are present in any form at the 

Project site. Professional services related to or in any way connected with the investigation, detection, 
abatement, replacement, use, specification, or removal of products, materials, or processes containing asbestos 
or hazardous or toxic materials are beyond the scope of this Agreement. Client shall be solely responsible for 
notifying all appropriate governmental agencies, including the potentially effected public, of the existence of 
any hazardous or toxic materials located on or at the project site at any time. 

In the event Consultant encounters asbestos or hazardous materials at the jobsite, Consultant may, at 
its option and without liability for damages, suspend the performance of services on the Project until 
such time as Client and Consultant mutually agree on an amendment to this Agreement to address the 
issue, or Client retains another specialist consultant or contractor to identify, classify, abate and/or 
remove the asbestos and/or hazardous materials. 

 

 

XI. CONSULTANTS WORK PRODUCT 



Page 6 of 10 

A. Scope 

Consultant's work product which is prepared solely for the purposes of this Agreement, 
including, but not limited to, drawings, test results, recommendations and technical 
specifications whether in hard copy or electronic form, shall become the property of Client 
when Consultant has been fully compensated as set forth herein. Consultant may keep copies 
of all work product for its records. 

Consultant and Client recognize that Consultant's work product submitted in performance of 
this Agreement is intended only for the project described in this Agreement. Client's alteration 
of Consultant's work product or its use by Client for any other purpose shall be at Client's sole 
risk. 

B. Electronic Copies 

If requested, solely as an aid and accommodation to Client, Consultant may provide copies of its work 
product documents in computer-readable media ("electronic copies," "CADD'). These documents will 
duplicate the documents provided as work product but will not bear the signature and professional 
seals of the registered professionals responsible for the work. Client is cautioned that the accuracy of 
electronic copies and CADD documents may be compromised by electronic media degradation, errors 
in format translation, file corruption, printing errors and incompatibilities, operator inexperience and 
file modification. Consultant will maintain the original copy, which shall serve as the official, archived 
record of the electronic and CADD documents. 

XII. INDEMNIFICATION 

A. Indemnification of Client 

Consultant agrees to indemnify and hold Client harmless from and against any liability to the extent 
arising out of the negligent errors or negligent omissions of Consultant, its agents, employees, or 
representatives, in the performance of Consultant's duties under this Agreement. 

B. Consequential Damages 

Regardless of any other term of this Agreement, in no event shall either party be responsible or liable to 
the other for any incidental, consequential, or other indirect damages. 

XIII. CONSULTANTS INSURANCE 

Consultant shall procure and maintain the following minimum Insurance: 

1. Commercial general liability insurance, including personal injury liability, blanket contractual liability and 
broad-form property damage liability coverage. The combined single limit for bodily injury and property 
damage shall be not less than $1,000,000 



Page 7 of 10 

2. Automobile bodily injury and property damage liability insurance covering owned, non-owned, rented, 
and hired cars. The combined single limit for bodily injury and property damage shall be not less than 

$1,000,000 
3. Statutory workers' compensation and employer's liability insurance as required by state law. 
4. Professional liability insurance. The policy limit shall be not less than $1,000,000. 

Client shall be named as additional insured on policies 1 and 2 above. Upon request, a certificate of 
insurance will be provided to Client with a 30-day written notice in the event the above policies are 
cancelled. 

XIV. CONFIDENTIALITY 

Consultant agrees it will maintain the confidentiality of material it receives from Client which Client has clearly 
identified as "Confidential" and will not disclose, distribute, or publish to any third party such confidential 
information without the prior permission of Client. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Consultant shall have no 
confidentiality obligation with respect to information that: 

1) becomes generally available to the public other than as a result of disclosure by Consultant or its agents or 
employees; 

2) was available to Consultant on a non-confidential basis prior to its disclosure by Client; 

3) becomes available to Consultant from a third party who is not, to the knowledge of Consultant, 

bound to retain such information in confidence is otherwise a public record in accordance with 

the Georgia Open Records Act, O.C.G.A. § 50-18-70 et seq. 

In the event Consultant is compelled by subpoena, court order, or administrative order to disclose any 
confidential information, Consultant shall promptly notify Client and shall cooperate with Client prior 
to disclosure so that Client may take necessary actions to protect such confidential information from 
disclosure. 

XV. SUBCONTRACTS 

Consultant shall be entitled, to the extent determined appropriate by Consultant and Client, to 
subcontract any portion of the services to be performed under this Agreement. Any subcontracts are 
subject to approval by the Client prior to being executed. 

XVI. SUSPENSION OF WORK 

Work under this Agreement may be suspended as follows: 

1. By Client. By written notice to Consultant, Client may suspend all or a portion of the Work 
under this Agreement if unforeseen circumstances beyond Client's control make normal 
progress of the Work impracticable. Consultant shall be compensated for its reasonable 



Page 8 of 10 

expenses resulting from such suspension including mobilization and demobilization. If 
suspension is greater than 30 days, then Consultant shall have the right to terminate this 
Agreement in accordance with Article XVI, Termination of Work. 

2. By Consultant. By written notice to Client, Consultant may suspend the Work if Consultant 
reasonably determines that working conditions at the Site (outside Consultant's control) are 
unsafe, or in violation of applicable laws, or in the event Client has not made timely payment in 
accordance with Article VI, Compensation, or for other circumstances not caused by Consultant 
that are interfering with the normal progress of the Work. Consultant's suspension of Work 
hereunder shall be without prejudice to any other remedy of Consultant at law or equity. 

XVII. TERMINATION OF WORK 

A. This Agreement may be terminated by Client for cause, if Consultant materially breaches this 
Agreement through no fault of Client and Consultant neither cures such material breach nor 
makes reasonable progress toward cure within 15 days after Client has given written notice of 
the alleged breach to Consultant. 

B. This Agreement may be terminated by Client without cause at Clients convenience by giving 
Consultant 30 days written notice of such termination. 

C. This Agreement may be terminated by Consultant as follows: (1) for cause, if Client materially 
breaches this Agreement through no fault of Consultant and Client neither cures such material 
breach nor makes reasonable progress toward cure within 15 days after Consultant has given 
written notice of the alleged breach to Client, or (2) upon five days' notice if work under this 
Agreement has been suspended by either Client or Consultant for more than 30 days in the 
aggregate. 

D. Payment upon Termination 

In the event of termination, Consultant shall perform such additional work as is reasonably 
necessary for the orderly closing of the Work. Consultant shall be compensated for all work 
performed prior to the effective date of termination, plus work required for the orderly closing 
of the Work, including: (1) authorized work performed up to the termination date plus 
termination expenses, including all labor and expenses, at Consultant's standard billing rates, 
directly attributable to termination; (2) all efforts necessary to document the work completed or 
in progress; and (3) any termination reports requested by Client. 

XVIII. ASSIGNMENT 

This Agreement is binding on the heirs, successors, and assigns of the parties hereto. Except as 
otherwise set forth under Article VIII, Assignment of Tasks to Affiliates, this Agreement may not be 
assigned by Client or Consultant without prior, written consent of the other. 

 



Page 9 of 10 

XIX. NO BENEFIT FOR THIRD PARTIES 

The services to be performed by Consultant are intended solely for the benefit of Client, and no benefit is 
conferred on, nor contractual relationship established with any person or entity not a party to this Agreement. 
No such person or entity shall be entitled to rely on Consultant's services, opinions, recommendations, plans, or 
specifications without the express written consent of Consultant. No right to assert a claim against the 
Consultant, its officers, employees, agents, or consultants shall accrue to the construction Contractor or to any 
subcontractor, supplier, manufacturer, lender, insurer, surety, or any other third party as a result of this 
Agreement or the performance or nonperformance of the Consultant's services hereunder. 

XX. FORCE MAJEURE 

Consultant shall not be responsible for delays caused by circumstances beyond its reasonable control, 
including, but not limited to (1) strikes, lockouts, work slowdowns or stoppages, or accidents, (2) acts 
of God, (3) failure of Client to furnish timely information or to approve or disapprove Consultant's 
instruments of service promptly, and (4) faulty performance or nonperformance by Client, Client's 
independent consultants or contractors, or governmental agencies. Consultant shall not be liable for 
damages arising out of any such delay, nor shall the Consultant be deemed to be in breach of this 
Agreement as a result thereof. 

XXI. INTEGRATION 

This Agreement represents the entire understanding of Client and Consultant as to those matters 
contained herein. No prior oral or written understanding shall be of any force or effect with respect to 
those matters covered herein. This Agreement may not be modified or altered except in writing signed 
by both parties. Any purchase order issued by Client, whether or not signed by Consultant, and any 
terms and conditions contained in such purchase order which are inconsistent with this Agreement 
shall be of no force and effect. 

XXII. SEVERABILITY 

If any part of this Agreement is found unenforceable under applicable laws, such part shall be 
inoperative, null, and void insofar as it conflicts with said laws, but the remainder of this Agreement 
shall be in full force and effect. 

XXIII. CHOICE OF LAW/JURISDICTION 

This Agreement shall be administered and interpreted under the laws of the State of Georgia. 

XXIV. ATTORNEYS' FEES 

In the event either party commences legal proceedings against the other, then the prevailing party shall, in 
addition to any other recovery, be entitled to recover its reasonable attorneys' fees and all other costs of such 
proceeding. 



Page 10 of 10 

XXV. NOTICES 

All notices required under this Agreement shall be delivered by facsimile, personal delivery, mail or e-mail 
and shall be addressed to the following persons: 

W. Allen Krivsky William M. Klahr 
Principal-in-Charge Public Works Director/City Engineer 
Heath & Lineback Engineers, Inc. CITY OF NEWNAN  
2390 Canton Road, Building 200 25 Lagrange Street 
Marietta, GA 30066 Newnan, GA 30263 
Fax: 770-424-2907 Fax: 770-254-2361 
akrivsky@heath-lineback.com mklahr@cityofnewnan.org  

Notice shall be effective upon delivery to the above addresses. Either party may notify the other that 
a new person has been designated by it to receive notices, or that the address or Fax number for the 
delivery of such notices has been changed, provided that, until such time as the other party receives 
such notice in the manner provided for herein, any notice addressed to the previously-designated 
person and/or delivered to the previously-designated address or Fax number shall be effective. 

XXVI. AUTHORIZATION 

The persons executing this Agreement on behalf of the parties hereto represent and warrant that the 
parties have all legal authority and authorization necessary to enter into this Agreement, and that 
such persons have been duly authorized to execute this Agreement on their behalf. 

IN WHNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of the date first above 
written. 

Heath & Lineback Engineers, Inc. City of Newnan, Public Works 

Signature________________________ Signature_________________________ 

Printed Name_____________________ Printed Name______________________ 

Title____________________________ Title_____________________________ 

Federal Tax ID number:  

 



        City of Newnan, Georgia - Mayor and Council 
 
   Date: August 13, 2019 
 
                                                         Agenda Item: Task Order No. 1- Scope and Fees  
      
                             Lower Fayetteville Road Operations and Safety Project 
                                                  
     Prepared by: Michael Klahr, Public Works Director  
 
 
 
Purpose:     To consider approval for Scope and Fees for Task Order No. 1; Preliminary 
Engineering, Phase I, Scoping for the Lower Fayetteville Road Operations and Safety Project 
 
Background:   Heath & Lineback Engineers, Inc., in coordination with the Office of Program 
Delivery for the Georgia Department of Transportation, has prepared a scope and associated fees 
for Task Order No. 1 for the referenced project. 
 
Task Order No. 1 includes the production of a concept study and report, traffic analysis, 
environmental studies and stakeholder/ public involvement meetings. 
 
The City of Newnan has been awarded Federal-Aid funding for Preliminary Engineering, Phase I; 
Scoping, in the amount of $500,000.00, with a minimum required match of $125,00.00.  The 
scope and fee proposal is for $684,789.77, Lump Sum. 
 
  
Options: A. Approve Task Order No. 1- Scope and Fees, $684,789.77, Lump Sum 
  

B. Other action as directed by Council 
 
Funding:     SPLOST 2013 
 
Recommendation:     Option A      
 
Attachments: Document:  Task Order No. 1 
  
  
        



 

1 | P a g e  

J:\2019020\Admin\02_Contract\Task Order 1\Lower Fayetteville Road Scope and Fee Proposal 2019-  03-25.docx 

 
July 15, 2019 
 
William M. Klahr 

Public Works Director 

City of Newnan 

25 Lagrange St. 

Newnan, GA 30263 

 

REF:  Lower Fayetteville Road Operational and Safety Improvement Project 

Task Order No. 1 

  
 
Dear Mr. Klahr, 
 
With this letter, we submit our scope of work and fee estimate to complete Preliminary Engineering, 
Phase 1, Scoping services to identify alternatives for improving operations and safety along Lower 
Fayetteville Road in accordance with the Plan Development Process for the Georgia Department of 
Transportation.  The limits of the study are from Greison Trail to Summergrove Parkway/Sullivan Road. 
Traffic counts and analysis may extend east to SR 154 to address Logical Termini. 
 
The work will be completed as a series of task orders controlled by a Master Agreement.  Under Task 
Order No. 1 we will complete an approved GDOT Concept Report and all necessary traffic, geotechnical 
studies and environmental studies and public outreach as outlined below.  Additional Task Orders will be 
procured at a later date to complete preliminary and final engineering for the preferred concept solutions. 
 
We propose the following Scope of Work for Task Order No. 1:  

 
I. Concept Study and Report 

Project Management and coordination over the duration of the contract includes monthly status 
meetings and reports. 

a. Gather Data 

i. Obtain GIS mapping. (Field survey database not included).   

ii. Property and right of way survey  

iii. Obtain Existing Utility Locations – Level D   

iv. Obtain land use data and future development plans. 

v. Obtain demographic data. 

vi. Gather plans from planned/programmed projects in the study area 

vii. Preliminary Existing Pavement Evaluation 

b. Identify  solutions for Public Works review 

c. Evaluate potential improvements 

d. Complete GDOT Concept Report  

 

II. Traffic Analysis 

Project Management and coordination over the duration of the contract includes monthly status 
meetings and reports. 

a. Collect Traffic Data for the surrounding/adjacent major driveways and roads  



Mr. William M. Klahr 
Lower Fayetteville Road Operational and Safety Improvement Project  
May 20, 2019 

 

2 | P a g e  

J:\2019020\Admin\02_Contract\Task Order 1\Lower Fayetteville Road Scope and Fee Proposal 2019-  03-25.docx 

i. AM/PM peak hour turning movement counts for up to 40 intersections (38 – 6-hr 

& 2-13hr) 

ii. 48-hr classification counts at up to 95 locations (43–with truck classification & 

speed profiles & 52-volume only) 

iii. Origin-destination data for up to 10 zones to develop traveler profiles 

iv. Obtain available crash data, compile and analyze corridor for safety 

improvements. 

b. Utilize Census, ARC, and historic growth rate to calculate growth rates for the area 

c. Project future traffic per GDOT Standard: +5 and +25: 2024 and 2044 years anticipated 

and Base Year +2 (2026) and Design Year +2 (2046) years to include AM & PM DHV’s 

and Daily volumes. 

d. Develop Traffic Diagrams for all scenarios; Existing, Base, Base +2, Design, Design +2 

to include Daily Volumes and AM and PM DHV’s. 

e. Prepare existing and no-build traffic models 

i. Develop Synchro models for the corridor for up to 11 of the intersections 

ii. Calibrate Synchro models for AM and PM peak hours 

iii. Utilize growth rate to prepare 2024 (and +2 2026) and 2044 (and +2 2046) 

DHV’s and Daily no-build models 

f. Develop Interseciton Control Evaluaton (ICE) for all 40 intersections 

g. Develop improvement solutions 

h. Conduct meeting with Public Works Staff to review results and identify potential 

improvements 

 

2. Environmental Studies 

Project Management and coordination over the duration of the contract includes monthly status 
meetings and reports. 

a. Complete desktop Environmental Screening of corridor and project area.  Screening to 

include the following resources: 

i.  Environmental Justice Communities - Minority and Low-income populations 
ii.  Churches and Institutions 
iii. Parkland and Public Recreation Areas 
iv. Historic Markers and Historic Structures 
v. Archaeological Resources 
vi. Water Resources and Water Quality 
vii. Streams and Wetlands 
viii. Threatened and Endangered Species  
ix. Floodplains 

b. Complete Environmental Resource Identification surveys and reports of the corridor and 

project area.  Surveys and reports to include the following resources: 

i. Cultural resources – history and archeology 
ii. Ecology resources – ecology for streams, wetlands, openwaters, threatened and 

endangered species 
 

III. Stakeholder/Public Involvement Process (Anticipate two stakeholder meetings and two 

stakeholder preparation meeting with Public Works staff) 

a. Prepare Public Involvement Plan 

b. Prepare Stakeholder List 



Mr. William M. Klahr 
Lower Fayetteville Road Operational and Safety Improvement Project  
May 20, 2019 

 

3 | P a g e  

J:\2019020\Admin\02_Contract\Task Order 1\Lower Fayetteville Road Scope and Fee Proposal 2019-  03-25.docx 

c. Stakeholder Meeting I - Present identified planning level improvement solutions 

d. Stakeholder Meeting II - Present refined improvement solutions 

 

Task Order # 1 Deliverables include the following: 

1. Approved GDOT Concept Report 

2. Approved Traffic Data Map (thourgh GDOT Office of Planning & before Count Program can be 

excuted) 

3. Approved Traffic Data Report (through GDOT Office of Planning) 

4. Approved Traffic Forecasting Report (through GDOT Office of Planning) 

5. Approved Traffic Report 

6. Approved History Report 

7. Approved Archeology Report 

8. Approved Ecology Report 

9. Environmental Justice Analysis Documentation 

10. Preliminary Existing Pavement Evaluation 

11. Public Involvement Documentation 

Project schedule per our understanding as follows: 

1. Notice to Proceed – August 1, 2019 (anticipated) 

2. Traffic Data Collection – August/September, 2019 

3. Stakeholder/Public Involvement Process – October - November 2019 

4. Submit Concept Report Study – May 30, 2020 

Compensation is detailed in the attached cost proposal.  The total Lump Sum Fee is $684,789.77  

inclusive of other direct costs. 

 
Sincerely yours,      
Heath & Lineback Engineers, Inc. 

 
 
W. Allen Krivsky, P.E. 
Senior Vice President / COO 



   City of Newnan, Georgia – Mayor and Council 
 
Date:    August 13, 2019  

 

Agenda Item:  Consideration of a request to rename a section of Water  

                           Works Road 

 

 

Presented by:   Dean Smith, Planner 

 

   Submitted by:  Tracy Dunnavant, Planning & Zoning Director 

 

 

Purpose: To seek direction from City Council, about the possibility of renaming a 

portion of Water Works Road.   

 

Background: City personnel have discussed with Newnan High School officials the 

possibility of renaming a section of the existing Water Works Road 

(running from Lagrange Street south to Sewell Road) to Cougar Way, 

Path or Trail.  The section of street involved is approximately 1,531 feet 

or 0.3 miles and only two properties appear to be addressed directly off 

this section of Water Works Road 

 

 Staff conducted some preliminary research, speaking with E-911 and 

they responded to the  City stating that changing the name of the road to 

Cougar Way, Trail or Path would be acceptable to their agency. 

 

 Staff is eliciting input and direction from City Council if they wish to 

pursue renaming Water Works Road and what the new road name should 

be, i.e. Cougar Way, Cougar Path or Cougar Trail 

 

 In terms of process, should City Council direct staff to pursue this 

request, staff would begin the notification process to impacted properties 

that adjoin Water Works Road.  We would inform them of the request to 

change the name and also a date for a future Public Hearing before City 

Council where formal action on this request would be heard. 

 

Options: 1.  Direct staff to process to begin the formal process on the street name 

change. 

 2.  Direct staff to discontinue the process on the street name change. 

 3.  Other direction from Council. 

 

Recommendation: None. 

 

Attachments:  Aerial Map of road section 

 
 

 

 

 



    

 



CITY COUNCIL MEETING AUGUST 13, 2019 
 
 
From: Sandra M. Strozier <sstrozier@numail.org>  
Sent: Thursday, June 27, 2019 3:58 PM 
To: kbrady@cityofnewnan.org 
Subject: FW: PILOT Waiver 
 
Hello Keith, please find attached the estimate for replacing the basketball court on Boone Drive. We 
hope to bid the work out within the next 90 days. If you approve our request for the waiver of the PILOT 
payment, please send a letter for our files. After we replace the basketball court, we plan to upgrade the 
pavilion and rename the park, Willie Pritchett Park. We hope to have all of the work complete before 
the annual picnic in April. If you have any questions, please let me know. 
Thanks 
 

Sandra M. Strozier, President/CEO 
Housing Authority of Newnan 
48 Ball Street 
Newnan, GA 30263 
(770) 683-8237 
 

mailto:sstrozier@numail.org
mailto:kbrady@cityofnewnan.org


Southside Striping LLC

P.O. Box 71806
Newnan, GA  30271
(770)2528691
bill@southsidestriping.com
www.southsidestriping.com

ESTIMATE
ADDRESS

Housing Authority Of Newnan
48 Ball Street
Newnan, Ga30263

ESTIMATE # 1981
DATE 06/08/2019

  

PROJECT:
Court replacement.

ACTIVITY AMOUNT

Asphalt Replacement
Remove all existing asphalt and haul away debris. Fine grade base and compact. Pave with 
2" of 9.5MM superpave asphalt. Layout and stripe for multiple uses. Total area is 1423 
square yards. NOTE: One side of the fence must be removed prior to us starting for truck 
access and replaced when job is complete.

42,575.00

 

TOTAL $42,575.00

Accepted By Accepted Date



l/mrnnroulrn

July'16,2019

City of Cairo, Georgia
Attn: Honorable Booker T. Gainor, Sr., Mayor
"l 19 North Broad Street
Cairo, GA 39828

City of Newnan, Georgia Board of Water, Sewerage and Light
Attn: Honorable L. Keith Brady, Mayor Commissioners of the City of Newnan, Georgia
25 Lacrange Street Attn: Mr. Bobby Lee, Chairman
Newnan, GA 30263 70 Sewell Road

Newnan, Georgia 30263

Re: iIEAG Power Sale of Excess Power to City of Newnan
on Behalf of the City of Gairo

Dear Mayor Gainor and Mayor Brady:

This Letter Agreement sets forth the agreement between the Municipal Electric Authority
of ceorgia ('MEAG Power"), the City of Cairo, Georgia ("Cairo"), and the City of Newnan,
Georgia ("Newnan"), for MEAG Poweds sale on behalf of Cairo of cerlain excess power to
Newnan pursuant to Section 312 ofthe Power Sales Contract between MEAG Power and Cairo.
MEAG Power is willing to facilitate and execute this transaction pursuant to Section 312, subject
to this Letter Agreement.

The capitalized words or terms that are used in this Letter Agreement, but are not
defined herein, shall have the same meanings as assigned to them in the Power Sales
Contract.

ln consideration of the mutual agreements set forth herein, the sufficiency and adequacy
of which are acknowledged by MEAG Power, Cairo and Newnan, it is understood and agreed
that:

(1) Sale of Excess Power by MEAG Power on Behalf of Cairo.

(a) Pursuant to Section 312 of the Power Sales Contract between MEAG
Power and Cairo, Cairo has declared the amounts shown in Attachment 1, net of any Vogtle
sellback amounts, to be excess to its needs during each corresponding period shown in
Attachment 1 . Cairo has requested MEAG Power to sell, and MEAG Power shall, in
accordance with this Letter Agreement, sell to Newnan this capacity and the output therefrom,
including output directed to off system sales, as delivered energy (the "Sale Amount") in
accordance with the terms and conditions set forth in Attachment 1.

\lunicip0l Ilectric Authoritt ol- (ieorSia

I170 Rirercdge I'arkrral N'r\
Atlanta. (;eorpia i0i28-46.10

I -{100-i 3.i-M I:AC 770-561-0i00



l/utmnruurn

(b) This Sale Amount shall not reduce Cairo's Entitlement Share of output
and services under the Power Sales Contract, and Cairo shall remain liable to MEAG Power for
its entire Entitlement Share. All payments received by MEAG Power from Newnan for the Sale
Amount pursuant to this Letter Agreement shall be credited to Cairo's obligation to MEAG
Power to pay for its Entitlement Share.

(c) MEAG Power shall treat that portion of the output sold to Newnan on
behalf of Cairo as Newnan's resource from delivery at level B-1.

(21 Purchase of Excess Power by Newnan. Newnan agrees to purchase the Sale
Amount in accordance with the terms and conditions set forth in Attachment 1. MEAG Power
shall bill Newnan for such amount and Newnan shall pay all amounts due in the same manner
as other payments under the Power Sales Contract between MEAG Power and Newnan.

(3) Costs. Cairo shall be obligated for all costs incurred by MEAG Power as a direct
result of the transaction identified in this Letter Agreement. MEAG Power agrees to provide
sufficient documentation to Cairo to enable it to verify any such costs.

(4) lndemnification. Cairo hereby indemnifies and holds MEAG Power and the
remaining MEAG Power Participants harmless from and against any and all losses, costs,
liabilities, damages, expenses (including without limitation attorneys'fees and expenses) of any
kind and incurred or suffered by MEAG Power or its Participants as a result of, or in connection
with, Cairo's sale of excess power pursuant to this Letter Agreement.

lf you are in agreement with the foregoing, and after this Letter Agreement has been
duly authorized by the governing bodies of Cairo and Newnan, please execute this Letter
Agreement in the space provided below.

ATTEST:

ISIGNATURES CONTINUED ON NEXT PAGE]

MUNiCIPAL ELECTRIC AUTHOR:TY OF
GEORG:A

By

James E. Fuller
President and Chief Executive Officer

Municipal ElcctHc Authority Orccottia

1470 Rivcrcdgc Parkwav NW
Atlanta Ccorgia 30328‐ 4640

1‐800‐333-MEAG   770‐563‐0300



t/urnnroum

Agreed to and accepted, this _ day Agreed to and accepted, this _ day
2019       of 2019

CITY OF CAIRO CITY OF NEWNAN

By: By

Cly Clerk

ISEAL〕

Booker T Cainor,May。「

ATTEST:

L Keth Brady,Mayor

ATTEST:

Cty Clerk

〔SEAL〕

BOARD OF WATER,SEWERAGE AND LIGHT
COMM:SS!ONERS OF THE CITY OF NEWNAN,
GEORGIA

By:

Bobby Lee,Chairman

ATTESTI

Secretary

ISEAL〕

Municipal Elcctrlc AuthoH,orCcorgia

1470 Rivcrcdgc Parkway NW
Atlanta Ccorgia 30328‐ 4640

1‐800‐333‐MEAG  77●563‐ 0300



l/mrnnruulrn

Attachment 1-Terms and Conditions page 1 of 1

Product: Project 1 Capacity and Unit Output

Term: Beginning hour 0000 Central Prevailing Time August 7, 2019 through the
day before Vogtle Unit 3 becomes commercially operational or hour
ending 2400 Central Prevailing Time December 31 , 2024, whichever
comes first

Contract Quantity: 9.09100/o of Niagara Bottling LLC load in each hour up to a maximum of
0.7273 MWs in each hour

Pricing: $3'1.45/MWh at B-1

Transmission: Newnan is responsible for all transmission costs and feeder charges.

Municipal Electric Authorit) of Georgia
1470 Riveredge Parkua) NW
Atlanta- Georgia 30328-4640

l-800-333-MIAG 770-563-0300



City of Griffin, Georgia
Attn: Cynthia Reid-Ward, Chairman
'100 South Hill Skeet
Griffin, GA 30223

City of Newnan, Georgia
Attn: Honorable L. Keith Brady, Mayor
25 Lacrange Street
Newnan, GA 30263

l/urnnruurn

July 16, 20'19

Board of Water, Sewerage and Light
Commissioners of the City of Newnan, Georgia
Attn: Mr. Bobby Lee, Chairman
70 Sewell Road
Newnan, Georgia 30263

Re: MEAG Power Sale of Excess Power to City of Newnan
on Behalf of the City of Griffin

Dear Chairman Reid-Ward and Mayor Brady:

This Letter Agreement sets forth the agreement between the Municipal Electric Authority
of Georgia ('MEAG Power"), the City of Griffin, Georgia ("Griffin"), and the City of Newnan,
Georgia ("Newnan"), for MEAG Power's sale on behalf of Griffin of certain excess power to
Newnan pursuant to Section 312 of the Power Sales Contract between MEAG Power and
Griffin. MEAG Power is willing to facilitate and execute this transaction pursuant to Section 3"12,

subject to this Letter Agreement.

The capitalized words or terms that are used in this Letter Agreement, but are not
defined herein, shall have the same meanings as assigned to them in the Power Sales
Contract.

ln consideration of the mutual agreements set forth herein, the sufficiency and adequacy
of which are acknowledged by MEAG Power, Griffin and Newnan, it is understood and agreed
that:

(f ) Sale of Excess Power by MEAG Power on Behalf of Griffin.

(a) Pursuant to Section 312 of the Power Sales Contract between MEAG
Power and Griffin, Griffin has declared the amounts shown in Attachment '1, net of any Vogtle
sellback amounts, to be excess to its needs during each corresponding period shown in
Attachment 1. Griffin has requested MEAG Power to sell, and MEAG Power shall, in

accordance with this Letter Agreement, sell to Newnan this capacity and the output therefrom,
including output directed to off system sales, as delivered energy (the "Sale Amount") in
accordance with the terms and conditions set forth in Attachment 1 .

Municipal Electric Authority of Georgia
1470 Riveredge Parkway NW
Atlanta- Georgia 30328-4640

t-800-333.t\4EAG 770-563-0300



l/ulmrourn

(b) This Sale Amount shall not reduce Griffin's Entitlement Share of output
and services under the Power Sales Contract, and Griffin shall remain liable to MEAG Power for
its entire Entitlement Share. All payments received by MEAG Power from Newnan for the Sale
Amount pursuant to this Letter Agreement shall be credited to Griffin's obligation to MEAG
Power to pay for its Entitlement Share.

(c) MEAG Power shall treat that portion of the output sold to Newnan on
behalf of Griffin as Newnan's resource from delivery at level B-1.

l2l Purchase of Excess Power by Newnan. Newnan agrees to purchase the Sale
Amount in accordance with the terms and conditions set forth in Attachment 1. MEAG Power
shall bill Newnan for such amount and Newnan shall pay all amounts due in the same manner
as other payments under the Power Sales Contract between MEAG Power and Newnan.

(3) Costs. Griffin shall be obligated for all costs incurred by MEAG Power as a
direct result of the transaction identified in this Letter Agreement. MEAG Power agrees to
provide sufficient documentation to Griffin to enable it to verify any such costs.

(4) lndemnification. Griffin hereby indemnifies and holds MEAG Power and the
remaining MEAG Power Participants harmless from and against any and all losses, costs,
liabilities, damages, expenses (including without limitation attorneys'fees and expenses) of any
kind and incurred or suffered by MEAG Power or its Participants as a result of, or in connection
with, Griffin's sale of excess power pursuant to this Letter Agreement.

lf you are in agreement with the foregoing, and after this Letter Agreement has been
duly authorized by the governing bodies of Griffin and Newnan, please execute this Letter
Agreement in the space provided below.

ATTEST:

ISIGNATURES CONTINUED ON NEXT PAGE〕

MUNiCIPAL ELECTRIC AUTHOR:TY OF
GEORG:A

By:

James E. Fuller
President and Chief Executive Officer

Municipal Elcctric Authority ofCcorgia

1470 Rivcrcdgc Park、 va、 NヽV

Atlanta Ccorgia 30328‐ 4640

1‐ 81Xl‐ 333-MEAG  770‐ 563‐ 03110



l/mranrourn

Agreed to and accepted, this 

- 
day Agreed to and accepted, this 

- 
day

2019       of 2019

C1lγ OF GR:FF:N CITY OF NEWNAN

Cynthia Reid― Ward,Chairman            L Keth Brady,Mayor

ATTEST:                          ATTEST:

Cty Clerk

ISEAL]

Cty Clerk

iSEALl

BOARD OF WATER,SEWERAGE AND L:GHT
COMM:SS10NERS OF THE CITY OF NEWNAN,
GEORG:A

By
Bobby Lee,Chalrman

ATTEST:

Secretary

ISEAL]

Municipal Llcctric Allthont,orccOrgia

1470 RIvcrcd8c Parkヽ vay NV′

Allant■ Ccorgia 30328‐ 4640

1‐800‐ 333‐ MEAG   7フ 0‐ 563‐0300

By:



l/mmnrourn

Attachment 1-Terms and Conditions page 1 of 1

Product: Project 1 Capacity and Unit Output

Term: Beginning hour 0000 Central Prevailing Time August 7, 2019 through the
day before Vogtle Unit 3 becomes commercially operational or hour
ending 2400 Central Prevailing Time December 31 , 2024, whichever
comes first

Contract Quantity: 45.4545o/o of Niagara Bottling LLC load in each hour up to a maximum of
3.6364 MWs in each hour

Pricing: $31.45/MWh at B-'1

Transmission: Newnan is responsible for all transmission costs and feeder charges.

Municipal Electric Authorit) of Ceorgia
1470 Riveredge Park$a)' NW
Atlanta" Georgia 30328-4640

l-800-333-MEAG 770-563-0300



l/mrnnruurn

July 16, 2019

City of East Point, Georgia
Attn: Honorable Deana Holiday lngraham, Mayor
2777 Easl Point Street
East Point, GA 30344

City of Newnan, Georgia Board of Water, Sewerage and Light
Attn: Honorable L. Keith Brady, Mayor Commissioners of the City of Newnan, Georgia
25 Lacrange Street Attn: Mr. Bobby Lee, Chairman
Newnan, GA 30263 70 Sewell Road

Newnan, Georgia 30263

Re: MEAG Power Sale of Excess Power to City of Newnan
on Behalf of the City of East Point

Dear Mayor Holiday lngraham and Mayor Brady:

This Letter Agreement sets forth the agreement between the Municipal Electric Authority
of Georgia ("MEAG Power"), the City of East Point, Georgia ("East Point"), and the City of
Newnan, Georgia ("Newnan"), for MEAG Powe/s sale on behalf of East Point of certain excess
power to Newnan pursuant to Section 312 ofthe Power Sales Contract between MEAG Power
and East Point. MEAG Power is willing to facilitate and execute this transaction pursuant to
Section 3'12, subject to this Letter Agreement.

The capitalized words or terms that are used in this Letter Agreement, but are not
defined herein, shall have the same meanings as assigned to them in the Power Sales
Contract.

ln consideration of the mutual agreements set forth herein, the sufficiency and adequacy
of which are acknowledged by MEAG Power, East Point and Newnan, it is understood and
agreed that:

(1) Sale of Excess Power by MEAG Power on Behalf of East Point.

(a) Pursuant to Section 312 of the Power Sales Contract between MEAG
Power and East Point, East Point has declared the amounts shown in Attachment 1, net of any
Vogtle sellback amounts, to be excess to its needs during each corresponding period shown in

Attachment 1. East Point has requested MEAG Power to sell, and MEAG Power shall, in
accordance with this Letter Agreement, sell to Newnan this capacity and the output therefrom,
including output directed to off system sales, as delivered energy (the "Sale Amount") in
accordance with the terms and conditions set forth in Attachment 1.

Municipal Electric Authorit) of Georgia
1470 Riveredge Pa*wa! NW
Atlanta- Ceorgia 30328-4640

r-800-333-MEAC 770-563-0300



l/urnnrourn

(b) This Sale Amount shall not reduce East Point's Entitlement Share of
output and services under the Power Sales Contract, and East Point shall remain liable to
MEAG Power for its entire Entitlement Share. All payments received by MEAG Power from
Newnan for the Sale Amount pursuant to this Letter Agreement shall be credited to East Point's
obligation to MEAG Power to pay for its Entitlement Share.

(c) MEAG Power shall treat that portion of the output sold to Newnan on
behalf of East Point as Newnan's resource from delivery at level B-1.

l2l Purchase of Excess Power by Newnan. Newnan agrees to purchase the Sale
Amount in accordance with the terms and conditions set forth in Attachment 1. MEAG Power
shall bill Newnan for such amount and Newnan shall pay all amounts due in the same manner
as other payments under the Power Sales Contract between MEAG Power and Newnan.

(3) Costs. East Point shall be obligated for all costs incurred by MEAG Power as a
direct result of the transaction identified in this Letter Agreement. MEAG Power agrees to
provide sufficient documentation to East Point to enable it to verify any such costs.

(4) lndemnification. East Point hereby indemnifies and holds MEAG Power and
the remaining MEAG Power Participants harmless from and against any and all losses, costs,
liabilities, damages, expenses (including without limitation attorneys'fees and expenses) of any
kind and incurred or suffered by MEAG Power or its Participants as a result of, or in connection
with, East Point's sale of excess power pursuant to this Letter Agreement.

lf you are in agreement with the foregoing, and after this Letter Agreement has been
duly authorized by the governing bodies of East Point and Newnan, please execute this Letter
Agreement in the space provided below.

ATTEST:

ISIGNATURES CONTINUED ON NEXT PAGE]

聞UNiCiPAL ELECTRIC AUTHOR:TY OF
GEORG:A

By:

James E. Fuller
President and Chief Executive Officer

Municipal Elcctric Autholtン orCcorgia
1470 Rivcrcdgc Park、 ay NヽV

Atlanta Ccorgia 30328‐ 4640

1‐800‐333‐MEAG   770‐ 563‐ 0300



l/urnnrourn

Agreed to and accepted, this _ day Agreed to and accepted, this _ day
2019       of 2019

CiTY OF EAST POINT C:TY OF NEWNAN

Deana Ho‖day ingraham,Mayor        L Keth Brady,Mayor

ATTEST:                         ATTEST:

Cty Clerk

ISEAL〕

Cty Clerk

[SEAL]

BOARD OF WATER,SEWERAGE AND LiGHT
COMMISSiONERS OF THE CiTY OF NEWNAN,
GEORGIA

By:

Bobby Lee,Chairman

ATTEST:

Secretary

ISEAL】

Municipal Elcctric Authorit,o「 (lcorgia

14フ O Rivcrcdgc l)ark、 ■ NヽV

Atlanta Ccottia 30328‐ 4640

1‐ 800‐ 333‐MLAG   7フ 0‐ 563‐ 0300



U**oPoturR
Attachment 1-Terms and Conditions page 1 of 1

Product: Project 1 Capacity and Unit Output

Term: Beginning hour 0000 Central Prevailing Time August 7, 2019 through the
day before Vogtle Unit 3 becomes commercially operational or hour
ending 2400 Central Prevailing Time December 31,2024, whichever
comes first

Contract Quantity: 45.45450/o of Niagara Bottling LLC load in each hour up to a maximum of
3.6364 MWs in each hour

Pricing: $31.45/MWh at B-1

Transmission: Newnan is responsible for all transmission costs and feeder charges.

Municipal Electric Authority of Georgia
I 470 Riveredge Parkrvay NW
Atlanta- Georgia 30328-4640

l-800-333-MEAG 770-563-0300



 
 
City of Newnan, Georgia - Mayor and Council 
 

Date:   August 13, 2019 
 
Agenda Item: Construction Change Order #1, #2, #3, #4, and #5 on the 
Sprayberry Road Recreational Dog Park Project. 
 
Prepared and Presented by: Mike Furbush, City Landscape Architect 
 
Submitted by: Mike Furbush, City Landscape Architect 
 

 
Purpose: To provide City Council with a staff recommendation regarding five change orders to the 
construction contract on the Sprayberry Road Recreational Dog Park Project. 
 

Background: In December 2018, Piedmont Paving, Inc. was awarded, by City Council, the 
construction contract ($502,371.16) for the Sprayberry Road Recreational Dog Park Project. The total 
bid package also included several project allowances, some to be completed by the contractor and 
some to be completed by the City, which totaled an additional $425,000 bringing the total project cost 
to $927,371.16. The recreational project began construction in February 2019. As the project 
progressed, here have been a couple of change orders that were required to address drainage, 
grading, and water source issues. There was also a required change order due to unsuitable soils 
encountered in constructing the roundabout and the parking area. While the current change orders 
have now risen above $50,000, there should be some additional savings to the overall project budget 
within the various project allowances. Staff is hopeful that the project should still be able to completed 
within the original approved budget and construction contract of $928,000. 

 Original Construction Contract    $ 927,371.16 

 Proposed Change Order Number 1   $     9,757.54 

 Proposed Change Order Number 2   $   18,635.00 

 Proposed Change Order Number 3   $   13,036.08 

 Proposed Change Order Number 4   $   (5,478.87) 

 Proposed Change Order Number 5   $   26,332.50 
================================================== 
Updated Contract Price    $ 989,653.45 

Options: 
A. Approval of the proposed change order requests. 
B.  Other action as directed by City Council 

 

Funding:  SPLOST 2013     $483,000 
  General Fund      $445,000 
 Total Proposed Budget   $928,000 
 

Recommendation: Option A 
 

 Attachments: Proposed change orders and summaries dated February 26, April 22, June 3, June 29, 
and July 31, 2019. Also attached is the original staff recommendation for the recreational project, 
dated December11, 2018, which breaks out the various project allowances. 
 

Previous Discussions with Council: In December 2018, Piedmont Paving, Inc. was awarded the 
construction contract for the Sprayberry Road Recreational Project by City Council. 
 















 
 
City of Newnan, Georgia - Mayor and Council 
 
Date:      August 13, 2019 
 
Agenda Item:   Request for transmittal of the 2019 update to the 

Capital Improvements Element (CIE), which 
includes the Short-Term Work Program (STWP), to 
the Three Rivers Regional Commission (RC) and 
the Georgia Department of Community Affairs 
(DCA) 

 
Prepared and Presented by:  Chris Cole, Planner 
 
Submitted by:  Tracy Dunnavant, Planning & Zoning Director 

 
 
Purpose:  To request official transmittal of the 2019 update to the CIE, including the STWP, to the 
Three Rivers RC and the Georgia DCA. 
 
Background:  The Georgia Development Impact Fee Act (GDIFA) was enacted into law in 1990.  It 
sets rules for local governments that wish to charge new development for a portion of the additional 
capital facilities needed to serve it. Under GDIFA, local governments may impose exactions on 
developers to help finance the expansion of their infrastructure systems only through an impact fee 
system and only for the specific types of facilities and infrastructure listed in the law. 
 
All local governments that utilize an impact fee system under the GDIFA must include CIEs in their 
comprehensive plans and update the CIE portion of their plan annually. The STWP is included as a part 
of the CIE. 
 
Per the minimum standards of the planning process, all local governments must hold a minimum of one 
public hearing prior to the transmittal of each CIE update. The City has previously held the public 
hearing and staff is now requesting official transmittal of the document to the RC and DCA for review 
and comments. Formal adoption of the update by this body will be requested once approval is gained 
by both institutions. 
 
Options: 
 
A. Adopt the resolution approving transmittal of the 2019 update to the CIE, which includes the 

STWP. 
 

Funding:  N/A 
 
Recommendation:  Option A 

 
Attachments:   Transmittal resolution 
 
Previous Discussions with Council:  July 16, 2019 
                                                                



A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE TRANSMITTAL OF THE CITY OF 
NEWNAN’S 2019 UPDATE TO THE CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS ELEMENT, 

INCLUDING THE SHORT-TERM WORK PROGRAM, TO THE THREE RIVERS 
REGIONAL COMMISSION 

 
CITY OF NEWNAN, GEORGIA 

 
WHEREAS, the City of Newnan has prepared an annual update to a Capital 

Improvements Element and Short-Term Work Program; and 
 

WHEREAS, the annual update of the Capital Improvements Element and Short-Term 
Work Program was prepared in accordance with the Development Impact Fee Compliance 
Requirements and the Minimum Planning Standards and Procedures for Local Comprehensive 
Planning established by the Georgia Planning Act of 1989, and a Public Hearing was held on 
July 16, 2019 at City Hall. 

 
NOW THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY RESOLVED, that the Mayor and Council of the 

City of Newnan does hereby submit the annual update of the Capital Improvements Element and 
Short-Term Work Program covering the one-year period 2019-2020 to the Three Rivers 
Regional Commission for Regional Review, as per the requirements of the Georgia Planning Act 
of 1989.  
 

This Resolution is adopted this 13th day of August, 2019. 
      
 

ATTEST: 
       ______________________________ 

L. Keith Brady, Mayor 
 
______________________________  ______________________________ 
Della Hill, City Clerk     Cynthia E. Jenkins, Mayor Pro Tem 
        
REVIEWED:      ______________________________ 
       George M. Alexander, Councilmember 
    
______________________________  ______________________________ 
C. Bradford Sears, Jr., City Attorney   Raymond F. DuBose, Councilmember 
 
_____________________________   ______________________________ 
Cleatus Phillips, City Manager   Rhodes H. Shell, Councilmember 
 

______________________________ 
       Dustin Koritko, Councilmember 
             
       ______________________________ 
       Paul Guillaume, Councilmember 
        



 
 
 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 

Comprehensive Plan  
2016-2036 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Capital Improvements Element  
with Short-Term Work Program 

2019 Update 



TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Table of Contents   i

 
I. Introduction……………………………………………………………………….…...1 

 
II. Short-Term Work Program (STWP) Updates and Long-Term and 

Ongoing Activities……………………..……….….………………..…….……….2 
STWP………………………………………….……………………………………………………….……………..2 
Long-Term, Indefinite, and Continuous Activities…………………..…………………………..4 

 
III. Impact Fee Financial Report Updates……….……………....………….…5 

 
IV. Capital Improvements Element (CIE) Project Updates……………..6 

Parks and Recreation……………………….……………………………………………………………..….6 
Fire Services……………………………………….…………….…….…………….…………………………...6 
Roads, Streets, and Bridges…………………………………………………………......…………….….7 

 
V. Wastewater Collection and Treatment Updates……………….…….8 

Impact Fee Financial Report………………………..…………..…………………………….……..….8 
Short-Term Work Program….………………………………….…………….………………….……….8 
Long-Term, Indefinite, and Continuous Activities………………………………………………9 
Capital Improvements Element………………………….……………………………………………..9 

 
 
  
 



CITY OF NEWNAN  |  Annual STWP-CIE 
Update 2019 

 

Annual STWP-CIE Update 2019  Page 1 

I.   Introduction 
 

The Georgia Development Impact Fee Act (GDIFA) requires all jurisdictions that levy impact 
fees to include a Capital Improvements Element (CIE) within the Community Agenda portion of 
their comprehensive plan.  Furthermore, GDIFA requires those jurisdictions that prepare a CIE 
for their comprehensive plan to update it annually.  An annual CIE update includes three 
components: 

 
1. An annual update to the Short-Term Work Program (STWP) that covers a five-year 

period, which includes the current year plus the next four years. 
2. An annual report on impact fee finances. 
3. An updated list of all CIE projects that receive funding from impact fees, which covers 

the same five-year period as the STWP. 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



CITY OF NEWNAN  |  Annual STWP-CIE 
Update 2019 

 

Annual STWP-CIE Update 2019  Page 2 

II. Short-Term Work Program (STWP) Updates and Long-Term and 
Ongoing Activities 

 
Whether or not a jurisdiction is required to have a CIE in their comprehensive plan they 

must have a STWP, as required by the Georgia Planning Act.  This is necessary to maintain 
Qualified Local Government (QLG) status.  The STWP is a key implementation tool, which 
reflects those activities and strategies the local government has chosen to undertake in the 
current five-year period (2019-2023).  The City of Newnan has chosen to also provide a long-
term and ongoing activities table for reference.   

 

IMPROVEMENTS | STWP ADDENDUM 

Project or Activity 
Project 

Start 
Date 

Project 
Completion 

Date 

Estimated 
Project 

Cost 

Portion 
Chargeable 
to Impact 

Fees 

Sources of 
Funds  

(& Share) 

Responsible 
Party 

Develop LINC trail system (Phases 1-4) 2017 2021 $10,035,800 $3,800,000 
SPLOST 13, 

Impact Fees, 
General Fund  

City Manager 

Improvements to Lower Fayetteville 
Road (PE Phase I Scoping) 2019 2021 $625,000 $0 

Federal Share is 
$500,000, Match 

Amount is 
$125,000 

(SPLOST 13) 

Engineering 

Implement gateway signage master plan 
and install signage in phases 

2014 2019 $250,000 $0 SPLOST 13  
Business 

Development, 
Beautification 

Build Fire Station #4 2014 2019 $3,073,797 $1,500,000 SPLOST 13, 
Impact Fees  

City Manager 

Improvements to City Hall  2014 2019 $91,500 $0 SPLOST 07  City Manager 

Construct McIntosh Parkway   2014 2019 $7,173,000 $2,000,000 

Impact Fees, 
SPLOST 07, 
SPLOST 13, 
GTIB Grant  

Engineering 

Jackson/Jefferson/Clark/Bullsboro 
segment traffic study 

2015 2019 $75,000 $0 
LCI, SPLOST 13, 
Match Amount 

is $18,750 
Engineering 

Jackson Street (North) from Elm Street 
to Clark Street 

2018 2019 $355,350 $0 
TBD, City, Match 

Amount is 
$71,070 

Engineering 

E. Washington Street from Farmer Street 
to Perry Street 2019 2020 $1,234,170 $0 

LCI, City, Match 
Amount is 
$246,834 

City 

Andrew Street Extension from Augusta 
Drive to E. Broad Street 2018 2021 $4,549,000 $2,500,000 Impact Fees, City City 



CITY OF NEWNAN  |  Annual STWP-CIE 
Update 2019 

 

Annual STWP-CIE Update 2019  Page 3 

E. Broad/Farmer Signal 2016 2019 $130,000 $0 SPLOST 13  City 

Intelligent traffic operations  2016 2019 $200,000 $0 SPLOST 13  Engineering 

Obtain light duty response truck 2018 2020 $200,000 $200,000 Impact Fees Fire 

Work with the Historical Society to 
develop an educational program 
extolling the benefits of historic 

preservation and historic tourism 

2014 2019 
Staff Time, 

Other 
materials 

$0 

City, Historical 
Society, 

Hotel/Motel Tax, 
Grants 
(Shares 

Unknown) 

Historical Society, 
Convention & 

Visitors Bureau, 
PIO, Business 
Development 

Obtain National Register District 
designation for Chalk Level 

Neighborhood 
2013 2020 $2,000 $0 NURA  

NURA, Planning & 
Zoning 

Continue Neighborhood Stabilization 
Program (NSP III) 2011 2020 $100,000 $0 

Neighborhood 
Stabilization 

Program Grant  

Planning & Zoning, 
Housing Authority 

Continue Neighborhood Stabilization 
Program  
(NSP I) 

2013 2020 $100,000 $0 
NSP Revenue, 

NSP Grant  

Planning & Zoning, 
Housing Authority, 

Habitat for 
Humanity 

Sidewalks along Greison Trail 2014 2021 $800,000 $0 SPLOST 19  Public Works 

Sidewalks along Sprayberry Road 2014 2020 $278,000 $0 SPLOST 19  Public Works 

Source: City of Newnan  
Note: Building, Planning & Zoning, Public Works, Beautification, Information Technology, Police, Fire, Engineering, Business Development refer 
to those respective departments of the City of Newnan.  County refers to Coweta County.  Acronyms used refer to:  RC- Three Rivers Regional 
Commission, ARC- Atlanta Regional Commission, GRTA- Georgia Regional Transportation Authority, PIO- Public Information Officer, NURA- 
Newnan Urban Redevelopment Agency, UWG – University of West Georgia, NCAC – Newnan Cultural Arts Commission, NH – Newnan Hospital.  
Other groups referenced, like the Historical Society, represent those organizations servicing either Newnan or Coweta County as a whole. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



CITY OF NEWNAN  |  Annual STWP-CIE 
Update 2019 

 

Annual STWP-CIE Update 2019  Page 4 

 

 

IMPROVEMENTS | STWP ADDENDUM 
LONG-TERM, INDEFINITE, AND CONTINUOUS ACTIVITIES* 

Project or Activity 
Project Start 

Date 

Project 
Completion 

Date 

Estimated 
Project Cost 

Portion 
Chargeable 
to Impact 

Fees 

Sources of 
Funds  

(& Share) 
Responsible Party 

Develop LINC trail 
system 

2017 2027 $27,847,026.90 $3,800,000 
Impact 

Fees, City, 
County 

City Manager 

Improvements to 
Lower Fayetteville 

Road  
2017 2028 $67,560,000 $2,500,000 

Impact 
Fees, City, 

FHWA 
Engineering 

Acquire a heavy duty 
vehicle for fire 

department   
2024 2024 $550,000 $550,000 

Impact 
Fees  

Fire 

Acquire a heavy duty 
vehicle for fire 

department   
2026 2026 $600,000 $600,000 

Impact 
Fees  

Fire 

Acquire a heavy duty 
vehicle for fire 

department   
2030 2030 $650,000 $650,000 

Impact 
Fees  Fire 

Source: City of Newnan  
Note: Beautification, Fire, Engineering refer to those respective departments of the City of Newnan. 
*Long-Term means any activity that is to begin in or more than five years (2024) from the current year (2019).  All activities that have an 
indefinite or continuous end date, but a known start date prior to 2024, are included here to have the STWP represent only activities with 
known start end dates.  Also, it is conceivable that many of the activities with unknown end dates are or may become permanently ongoing 
activities.     



CITY OF NEWNAN  |  Annual STWP-CIE 
Update 2019 

 

Annual STWP-CIE Update 2019  Page 5 

III. Impact Fee Financial Report Updates 

 
The purpose of annually reporting on the financial state of impact fees is to provide an 

overview of impact fees collected and spent by category of public facility and service area.  As 
seen below, there is a report for 2018, which is the last completed year. 

 

ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT FOR 2018  
Public Facility 

Type 
Parks and 
Recreation Fire Services Police Protection 

Roads, Streets, and 
Bridges 

Total 

Service Area City of Newnan City of Newnan City of Newnan City of Newnan  

Beginning 
Impact Fee 

Fund Balance 
$1,923,147.17 $455,089.94 $1.92 $94,378.15 

 
$2,472,617.18  

 

Impact Fees 
Collected 

$553,388.82 $245,301.29 $0 $131,992.57 
 

$930,682.68  
 

Accrued 
Interest 

$3,418.80 $1,324.34 $0 $243.08 
 

$4,986.22  
 

Project 
Expenditures 

$2,335,837.09 $260,633.61 $0 $173,767.48 
 

$2,770,238.18  
 

Impact Fee 
Refunds 

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 

Ending Impact 
Fee Fund  
Balance 

 
$144,117.70 

 
$441,080.96 $1.92 $52,846.32 

 
$638,047.90  

 

Impact Fees 
Encumbered $0 $0 $0 $0 

                                            
                                    $0 
 

Source: City of Newnan Finance Department – Fund 375 Impact Fees 
 
Administrative Fees 

Three percent of each impact fee is added to the final amount as an administrative fee.  This 
portion of the impact fee pays for banking fees to maintain the impact fee account and helps 
fund the salaries of the administrator who collects the impact fees and other staff members of 
the Planning and Zoning Department who update the CIE, prepare financial reports, and other 
related activities.  For 2018, the only costs associated with implementation were banking fees 
and the salaries of those various employees.  The amount collected in administrative fees was 
$25,638.68.  



CITY OF NEWNAN  |  Annual STWP-CIE 
Update 2019 

 

Annual STWP-CIE Update 2019  Page 6 

IV. Capital Improvements Element (CIE) Project Updates 
 

A capital improvement is an improvement that increases the service capacity of a public 
facility and has a useful life of ten or more years due to new construction or some other action.  
The CIE projects tables below show all planned capital improvements with expected completion 
dates within the current five-year period.  
 
Capital Improvements Projects: Parks and Recreation 

Newnan   Capital Improvements Projects - 2019 
Public Facility   Parks and Recreation 

Service Area   City Limits 

Project Description 
Project 

Start 
Date 

Project 
End 
Date 

Estimated 
Cost of 
Project 

Portion 
Chargeable 
to Impact 

Fees 

Funding 
Sources 

 
Responsible 

Party 
Status 

Develop LINC trail system 
(Phases 1-4) 

2017 2021 $10,035,800 
 

$3,800,000 
 

SPLOST 13, 
Impact 
Fees, 

General 
Fund 

 
 
City Manager 

 
Under 

Construction 

Source: City of Newnan Planning and Zoning Department 
 

Capital Improvements Projects: Fire Services 
Newnan   Capital Improvements Projects - 2019 

Public Facility   Fire Services 
Service Area   City Limits 

Project Description 
Project 

Start 
Date 

Project 
End 
Date 

Estimated 
Cost of 
Project 

Portion 
Chargeable to 
Impact Fees 

Funding 
Sources 

Responsible 
Party Status 

Obtain light duty response 
truck 2018 2020 $200,000 $200,000 Impact 

Fees Fire Planning 

Build Fire Station #4 2014 2019 $3,073,797 $1,500,000 
SPLOST 13, 

Impact 
Fees 

City 
Manager Planning 

Source: City of Newnan Planning and Zoning Department 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



CITY OF NEWNAN  |  Annual STWP-CIE 
Update 2019 

 

Annual STWP-CIE Update 2019  Page 7 

Capital Improvements Projects: Roads, Streets, and Bridges 
Newnan   Capital Improvements Projects - 2019 

Public Facility   Roads, Streets, and Bridges 
Service Area   City Limits 

Project Description 
Project 

Start 
Date 

Project 
End 
Date 

Estimated 
Cost of 
Project 

Portion 
Chargeable to 
Impact Fees 

Funding Sources 
 

Responsible 
Party 

Status 

Construct McIntosh 
Parkway 2014 2019 $7,173,000 $2,000,000 

Impact Fees, 
SPLOST 07, 
SPLOST 13, 
GTIB Grant  

 
 
Engineering 

 
Under 

Construction 

Andrew Street Extension 
from Augusta Drive to E. 

Broad Street 
2018 2021 $4,549,000 $2,500,000 Impact Fees, City Engineering 

Early Concept 
Phase 

Source: City of Newnan Planning and Zoning Department 
* McIntosh Parkway was referred to as East Washington Extension and Greison Trail/Bypass Connector, respectively, in earlier CIEs. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



CITY OF NEWNAN  |  Annual STWP-CIE 
Update 2019 

 

Annual STWP-CIE Update 2019  Page 8 

V. Wastewater Collection and Treatment Updates 
 

As with the Comprehensive Plan, wastewater collection and treatment is being reported 
separately from the other public facilities.  This is due to the fact that Newnan Utilities, the 
City’s appointed authority for administering public utilities, provides service for this specific 
category.  The other public facilities included in this update are direct operations of the City.  
Newnan Utilities provides all the information for wastewater collection and treatment 
concerning the Comprehensive Plan and CIE updates.  They also levy and collect the impact fees 
for wastewater collection and treatment. 

Similar to previous public facilities, those items for wastewater collection and treatment 
that have completion dates beyond 2023 are not shown in the CIE and STWP.   
 

      ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT FOR 2018     
Public Facility Type       Wastewater Collection and Treatment 
Service Area                                             City of Newnan     
Beginning Impact Fee Fund 
Balance   $5,061,751.93        
Impact Fees Collected     $1,768,207.96       
Accrued Interest       $0.00        
Project Expenditures     $1,019,164.62       
Administrative Costs     $53,046.24       
Impact Fee 
Refunds       $0        
Ending Impact Fee Fund Balance   $5,757,749.03        
Impact Fees Encumbered     $0        

Source: Newnan Utilities 
 

IMPROVEMENTS | STWP ADDENDUM 

Project or Activity 
Project Start 

Date 

Project 
Completion 

Date 

Estimated 
Project 

Cost 

Portion 
Chargeable 
to Impact 

Fees 

Sources of 
Funds  

(& Share) 

Responsible 
Party 

Mineral Springs 
Upgrade 

2016 2021 $4,500,000 $4,500,000 Impact Fees 
(100%) 

Newnan 
Utilities 

Collection System 
Improvements 

2018 2022 $2,000,000 $2,000,000 Impact Fees 
(100%) 

Newnan 
Utilities 

 



CITY OF NEWNAN  |  Annual STWP-CIE 
Update 2019 

 

Annual STWP-CIE Update 2019  Page 9 

IMPROVEMENTS-STWP ADDENDUM 
LONG-TERM, INDEFINITE, AND CONTINUOUS ACTIVITIES* 

Project or Activity 
Project 

Start 
Date 

Project 
Completion 

Date 

Estimated 
Project Cost 

Portion 
Chargeable 
to Impact 

Fees 

Sources of 
Funds  

(& Share) 

Responsible 
Party 

Phase III – Expansion of 
Mineral Springs WPCP  

Indefinite Indefinite $13,000,000 $13,000,000 

Impact Fees 
(100%), 
Other 

Sources 

Newnan 
Utilities 

Phase IV – Expansion 
Wahoo Creek  

Indefinite Indefinite $15,000,000 $15,000,000 

Impact Fees 
(100%), 
Other 

Sources 

Newnan 
Utilities 

Land Treatment Indefinite Indefinite $10,000,000 $10,000,000 

Impact Fees 
(100%), 
Other 

Sources 

Newnan 
Utilities 

Collection System 
Construction 

Indefinite Indefinite $5,000,000 $5,000,000 

Impact Fees 
(100%), 
Other 

Sources 

Newnan 
Utilities 

Source: Newnan Utilities and Wiedeman and Singleton, Inc.  
*Long-Term means any activity that is to end more than five years (2024) from the current year (2019).  It is conceivable that many of the 
activities with unknown end dates are or may become permanently ongoing activities. In addition, the figures are not exact totals for the 
projects they represent. They are estimates as used in the “Calculation of Impact Fee in 2005” table. 
 
Wastewater Collection and Treatment CIE 

Newnan Capital Improvements Projects -- 2019 
Public Facility Wastewater Collection and Treatment 

Service Area City Limits 

Project Description 
Project 

Start Date 
Project End 

Date 
Estimated Cost 

of Project* 
Funding 
Sources 

Status 

Grit Collector, Clarifier Drivers, Belt Press 
Upgrade, Bar Screen Upgrade 

2018 2022 $1,200,000 Impact Fees 
(100%) Planning 

Mineral Springs Upgrade 2016 2021 $4,500,000 Impact Fees 
(100%) Construction 

Collection System Improvements 2018 2022 $2,000,000 Impact Fees 
(100%) Planning 

 



     City of Newnan, Georgia – Mayor and Council 

  Date:      August 13, 2019 

 

 

Agenda Item:                             10 Burch Ave, 280 West Washington St., 121 Pinson St., 180 West Washington St., 11 

Melson St, 15 Elm Cir, 18 Berry Ave, 33 Hardaway St 

 

Prepared and Presented by: Matt Murray, Code Enforcement Officer 

 

 

Submitted by:    Bill Stephenson, Chief Building Official 

 

 

Purpose: To inform Council of the status of 10 Burch St, 280 West Washington St., 121 Pinson St., 180 West 

Washington St., 11 Melson St, 15 Elm, 18 Berry Ave, 33 Hardaway St having been before Council in 

Public Hearings.   

 

 

Background: Date of Status Check:  August 6, 2019 

 

 

 

 
Property Address 

 

 

Owner 

 

 Original Hearing Original # 

Of Days 

Allowed 

Original Resolution 

Deadline 

 Extensions Updated 

Resolution 

Deadline 

Status 

 

10 Burch Ave 

 

 

Abdul Saeed Kader 

  

March 28,2017 
 

45 days 
 

May 12,2017 

  

90 Days 
 

September 

17, 2019 

 

Exterior progress- 

Property for sale 

 

280 West Washington St 

  

Irvin Jones Estate 

  

February 24, 2015 

 

180 Days 

 

August 23, 2015 

  

180 Days 

 

October 6, 

2019 

 

No progress 

 

 

 

 

121 Pinson St. 

  

 

Marcus Beasley 

  

 

August 26, 2014 

 

 

 

180 days 

 

 

February 22, 2015 

  

 

90 Days 

 

August 5, 

2019 

 

No Progress- res. 

deadline expired 

 



  

 

 

180 West Washington St. 

  

 

Render Godfrey 

  

 

September 25, 2017 

 

 

45 days 

 

 

November 9, 2017 

  

 

180 Days 

 

 

September 7, 

2019 

 

 

No Progress 

 

 

 

 

18 Berry Ave 

 

  

 

Dan Moten 

  

  

June 18, 2019 

 

   

30 days 

 

 

July 16, 2019 

  

    

90 days 

   

 

October 15, 

2019 

 

No progress 

Property for sale 

 

 

11 Melson St 

 

  

 

Cassandra Richardson 

  

April 23,2019-

cont’d to 6/18/19 

 

 

60 days 

 

 

August 18, 2019 

  

 

 

  

No progress 

Property for sale 

 

 

15 Elm Cir 

  

 

Payne Est 

  

 

April 23, 2019 

 

 

 

 

 

Cont’d to 8/27/19 

    

 

 

 

 

 

33 Hardaway St 

 

  

 

Annie Cook Estate 

  

 

June 18, 2019 

 

 

120 days 

 

 

October 17, 2019 

    

No progress 

Property for sale 

 

 

 

 

          

Options:  1. Accept status reports, no further action is required. 

2.  Other direction from Council. 

 

Funding:  Not Applicable 

 

Recommendation: Staff is requesting Council’s approval for Option  

 

 

Previous Discussions 

With Council:  All have previous history with Council.     









 

June 27, 2019 

 

Dear Mayor Brady: 

 

As I’m sure you are aware, on June 4, the Zoning Commission granted our application for two 

variances to city code which would allow us to open a shelter for women and children – making 

it the only shelter in our community at this time. I’m sure you’re also aware of the extent of the 

problem.  The PIT count we conducted in January revealed that the true numbers of the hidden 

homeless approaches 300 in Coweta.  I went back through my phone logs before the zoning 

meeting and counted 80 calls for assistance – in one week – 8 of which were for lodging. 

Families who had no place to go.  We’ve been working with the Housing Authority, and hope to 

open the doors to ‘The Lodge’ on August 1 of this year.  

In March of this year, I submitted a grant application to DCA for ESG funds which are designated 

for addressing homelessness. I put in the grant knowing that the Shelter was in the works, and 

hoping that everything would fall into place.  I include a timeline here to clarify: 

 The Lodge/ Timeline 

- Fall 2018  Began working with The Housing Authority to explore 

using their building at 108 W. Washington Street as a Shelter (The Lodge) 

- January 2019   Conducted PIT count as mandated by HUD 

- February 2019  Won approval from One Roof Board and HA Boards to 

proceed with 108 W. Washington; created action plan & budget 

- March 2019 Submitted Emergency Solutions Grant through DCA. We 

asked for a total of $130,000 in funds in Homelessness Prevention, Hotel 

Housing and Shelter.  

- April 2019  Began working with City of Newnan Planning Department 

to make sure The Lodge adhered to all city codes 

- June 2019  Appeared before Code Commission in public hearing and 

was granted the two variances necessary to operate 108 W. Washington as a 

Shelter 



- June 2019  Began a fundraising campaign to secure necessary 

furnishings and monies to renovate, furnish and operate The Lodge.  Applied 

for a building permit for the necessary renovations – ie, replacing one toilet 

with a shower. 

- June 25, 2019  Informed by DCA that we had been granted 

$15,000.00 (out of the $29,000.00 asked for the Shelter) from the ESG grant 

monies. Also informed by DCA that to receive these monies, we would have 

to have a ‘Local Approval Form’ signed and returned to them, no later than 

July 31st.  

 

With city approval, I now need a form signed by you – a local approval form – so that our grant 

can proceed. I wasn’t counting on the money; we have funds sufficient to open without the ESG 

monies, but it will certainly help us succeed.  

I can be reached at the office at 770-683-7705 if you have any questions.  I’m attaching a short 

plan that gives more details about The Lodge. Thank you for your time and attention to this 

matter. 

 

Best, 

 

Frankie Hardin, Executive Director 

 

One Roof Outreach * 255 Temple Avenue, Newnan, GA 30263 * 770-683-7705 



DOOR/ Phase Two:  The Lodge 

Plan & Budget  

 

Working with The Newnan Housing Authority, we would lease 108 W. Washington Street. We 

would renovate, furnish and operate the building as a Temporary Emergency Shelter for 

women and children who are suddenly homeless.  The Lodge would have 8 beds, 2 cribs and an 

apartment for a live-in House Mother.  The building currently has three half bathrooms and a 

kitchen. 

 

To open The Lodge, the following will need to happen: 

- The City of Newnan must approve.  Zoning Variances granted, June 4 

- The Housing Authority Board must give final approval and paperwork signed between HA 

and One Roof.  Lease is currently under review 

- The building must be cleared of furniture and things left behind by previous tenants.  The 

walls need to be patched and painted.  The carpet needs to be cleaned.  The Building has 

been cleared and painted.   

- A shower must be installed.  A plumber has seen the building and given an estimate of 

$5,000.00 for the work. If budget/funds allow, we will also install a washer/dryer unit. 

Permit for the renovation work was submitted; awaiting City issue. 

- The Kitchen needs to be cleaned and stocked.  Done 

- Furnishings needed include:  bunkbeds, sofas, dining table, lockers.  We need to furnish the 

House Mother’s apartment.  We need a computer station.  Done.  Over $8,000 in new and 

used furnishings and equipment has been purchased and donated by the community. 

- Insurance must be secured.  In process 

- A House Mother must be found in the currently homeless population; interviewed, 

background checked and hired. She will need to have First Aid, CPR and Children’s Sexual 

Abuse Prevention training.  In process 

- An Operations Manual that includes policies, procedures and a crisis plan must be written.  

In process. 

- An additional Staff person at One Roof to provide client care and counseling will need to be 

hired.  Done 

- Corporate, Church and Foundation funding must be secured.   In process 

- Volunteers and Churches must be organized to support the mission.  In process 

 

 

 



 

 

Lodge Budget 

 Item    Amount   Source 

 

Rent ($500/mo)  $6,000.00  St. Paul’s Episcopal Church 

Utilities   10,000.00  One Roof 

Food & Supplies  10,000.00  Coweta Community Food Pantry 

Renovation    6,000.00  Individual Donations 

Furnishings    4,000.00  Community  

Insurance    4,000.00  Family Foundation 

Staff    18,000.00  Grant/One Roof  

Transportation    6,000.00  Grant 

 

 





6th Annual Newnan High School Student-Vet Connect Veterans Relief Fund 5k and dog walk  

 

When: Saturday November 9th, 2019 beginning at 8:15 am  

Where: Newnan High School on Armory Road 

Run route: This year we will start and finish at Newnan High School Armory Road location next 
to the National Guard Armory.  The run will travel past historic Newnan homes and the Coweta 
County Veterans Memorial park. 

Details: NHS students $25.00 all other participants $30.00  

All money will directly benefit local Coweta County Veterans through the local VFW, 
American Legion Veterans Relief fund and Newnan High School Student Vet Connect. 

All participants who register either on Active.com or by mail will receive a Run T-shirt 
and packet. T-shirts and packets can be picked up on Friday November 16th at the 
Newnan High located on Armory Road between 5:30-7:00 pm. Those that register the 
day of the event may not receive a T-shirt. Shirts will not be reordered.  

RUNNERS MEDALS WILL BE AWARDED TO TOP THREE FINISHERS IN THESE AGE GROUPS 
BY GENDER:  12 and under, 13-19, 20-29, 30-39,40-49, 50-59, 60-69, 70-79, 80+ 

Water and snacks will be provided as well as event day activities for kids and adults. 

Sponsors:  All race sponsors will be represented on race day banner and shirts 

Medal of Honor Sponsor:  750.00-1000.00 Will co-host the event and receive their name and 
logo on the shirts, 4 race entries, can place materials in race day packet, will be given a race day 
table and place on race day banner.  

Silver Star Sponsors:  500.00-750.00 Will receive large recognition on all event promotions, 3 
race day entries, can place items in race day packet and will be given a table on race day.  

Bronze Star Sponsors: 250.00-500.00 Will receive recognition on all event promotions, 2 race 
day entries, can place items in race day packet and will be given a table on race day. 

Enlisted Sponsors: 100.00-250.00 will receive recognition on t-shirts, 1 race day entry; can place 
items in race day packet 

                                                      Course Description 
The 5-kilometer (3.1 mile) loop course starts and finishes at Newnan High School Armory. The 
course will take you through some beautiful parts of old Newnan. 

Can we get the 5k on the calendar for November 9th 7 to 10 am. Same route as last time, thank you 
Frankey Henderson – Coweta County Schools 
 



                                                                          
 Entry Fee and Awards 

Entry fee will be 30.00 for non-NHS students. Student fee is 25.00 (there is no charge for the fun 
run) T-shirts will be provided to all who pre-register by November 9th. You may also purchase a shirt on 
the day of the event for 25.00$. (Limited number available)The entry fee is non refundable. Proceeds 
benefit the Veterans Relief Fund of Coweta Co. Awards will be given to the top three finishers male and 
female based on age group. 
                                               Registration and Packet Pick Up 
At Newnan High School on Armory Road on Friday, November 8th from 5:30 to 7:00 p.m. and on race day 
from 7:00 am to 7:45 am. Races will begin at 8:15. 
  
                                                                   Parking 
Will be available all around the Newnan High Campus and is free of charge. Plenty of parking is available. 

OFFICIAL RACE ENTRY FORM 
Enter all information below, including shirt size, and sign waiver, which is required to participate. 
Name __________________________                 ______        Age_____ Male [  ] Female [ ] 
Address____________________________                                   City/State/ ZIP________ 
Date__________Email address: ______________________________ 
PHANTOM RUNNER (NO NEED TO RUN NUMBER TO BE ASSIGNED) 
  
I am registering for the:  5K Run      Dog YES NO 
Shirt Size:______________ youth sizes ______________ 
ENTRY FEE ENCLOSED: $_____ 
I would like to make an additional tax-deductible donation to the Veterans Relief fund in the amount of 
$________. 
  
Mail Entry To: Newnan High School History Dept. C/O Veterans 5k 190 Lagrange St. Newnan, GA 
30263 or drop off at main office. 
  
Make checks payable to:  NHS Social Studies Dept. C/O Veteran’s 5K 
Email for more information: frank.henderson@cowetaschools.net  
Website: http://www.cowetaschools.org/nhs/quesinberry/ssweb/ 
  
RACE WAIVER – PLEASE READ AND SIGN TO PARTICIPATE 
I know that running a road race is a potentially hazardous activity. I should not participate unless I am medically able and properly 
trained. I agree to abide by any decision of a race official relative to my ability to safely complete the event. I assume all risks associated 
with running this event, including, but not limited to, falls, contact with other participants, the effects of weather, traffic, and conditions 
of the road, all such risks being known and understood by me, having read this waiver and knowing these facts and in consideration 
of accepting my entry, I, for myself and anyone entitled to act on my behalf, waive and release Newnan High School and the Coweta 
County Board of Education and all, sponsors and agencies and municipalities, their representatives, and successors for all claims or 
liability of any kind arising out of my participation in this event. I grant permission to all of the foregoing to use any photographs, motion 
pictures, recordings or any other record of this event for any legitimate purpose. 
________________________________                _____________________________ 
Signature of participant                                                      Signature of parent/guardian of participant under 18 



lwinn
Text Box
NOVEMBER 9, 2019



Motion to Enter into Executive Session 
 

I move that we now enter into closed session as allowed by O.C.G.A. §50-14-4 and 
pursuant to advice by the City Attorney, for the purpose of discussing  

 
 
And that we, in open session, adopt a resolution authorizing and directing the Mayor or 

presiding officer to execute an affidavit in compliance with O.C.G.A. §50-14-4, and that 
this body ratify the actions of the Council taken in closed session and confirm that the 

subject matters of the closed session were within exceptions permitted by the open 
meetings law. 
 

 
Motion to Adopt Resolution after Adjourning Back into Regular Session 

 
I move that we adopt the resolution authorizing the Mayor to execute the affidavit stating 
that the subject matter of the closed portion of the council meeting was within the 

exceptions provided by O.C.G.A. §50-14-4(b). 
 


	NEWNAN CITY COUNCIL MEETING 8/13/2019
	READING OF THE MINUTES
	A-Minutes - Regular Meeting 7/16/2019
	B-Minutes - Special Called Meeting 7/25/2019
	C-Minutes - Special Called Meeting 8/6/2019

	BOARDS & COMMISSIONS
	NEW BUSINESS
	D-2018 CAFR Presentation
	E-Ordinance-Set Millage Rate 2019 Property Taxes
	F-Agreement/LifeWorks EAP
	G-NCHS-Operations of Hollis-McRitchie Museum
	H-Extend contract for Concrete Lifting Services
	I-Partial release/Stormwater Facility Maint Agreemt
	J-Eng Svcs Master Agreement/Lower Fayetteville
	K-Scope & Fees/Lower Fayetteville Road
	L-Direction-Renaming portion of Waters Works Rd
	M-HAN-Request to waive Pilot Fees for 2019
	N-MEAG Agreements to purchase excess power
	City of Cairo
	City of Griffin
	City of East Point

	O-Change Order / Sprayberry Road Dog Park

	UNFINISHED BUSINESS
	P-Transmittal of 2019 update to CIE/STWP
	Q-Status Reports - Various Properties

	VISITORS PETITIONS COMMUNICATIONS & COMPLAINTS
	R-Annual Martin Luther King Jr. Parade 2020
	S-Watercrest Sr Living Group/Alcohol Ordinance
	T-OneRoof-Consider Approval/DCA Grant Request
	U-F.Henderson-StudentVet Connect 5K 11/9/19

	MOTION TO ENTER INTO EXECUTIVE SESSION
	ADJOURNMENT




